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Company
GALAXY THE COMPANY

Mt Cattlin
Spodumene Mine

Ravensthorpe

Western
Australia

Introducing Galaxy Resources, a Western Australian company which is soon to 
become one of the world's leading producers of lithium – the essential component 
for powering the world's fast expanding fleet of hybrid and electric cars. 

Galaxy is the newest and biggest player in the rapidly developing lithium market.

By 2010, its Mt Cattlin mine will be the world's second largest hard rock producer of 
spodumene and, through the development of its value adding lithium carbonate 
plant, the Company will be the largest and lowest cost lithium carbonate producer in 
China.

The production lines manufacturing these cleaner, greener cars of the future are 
growing longer and moving faster - resulting in a rapid growth in demand for lithium 
– one that's expected to continue long into the future.

Spodumene concentrate and lithium carbonate raw materials are forecast to be in 
short supply against high future demand due to advances in long life batteries and 
sophisticated electronics including mobile phones and computers.

Galaxy Resources has positioned itself to meet this lithium future by not only mining 
the spodumene but by downstream processing to supply lithium carbonate to the 
lucrative Asian market.

Galaxy will be an Australian company operating as a wholly owned foreign company 
in China.  The Company plans to use Australian manufacturing standards and 
experience to ensure consistent product and packaging quality.  

Galaxy's primary focus is the production of battery grade lithium carbonate. By 
owning and controlling its own lithium deposit and downstream processing facility, 
Galaxy has the potential to be a low cost producer due to economy of scale and to 
provide an unmatched product quality, consistency and reliability to its customers.

Vision...

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

To be a World Player in Lithium

Fourth largest lithium carbonate producer in the world

Second largest hard rock spodumene mine in the world

Largest lithium carbonate producer in China

Lowest cost producer in China

Strategic supplier to the Asian lithium battery markets
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Galaxy Resources Limited

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Dear Shareholders,

As Chairman of Galaxy Resources Limited it is with great pride and enthusiasm that I 
present the Company's Annual Report for 2009. Much has been achieved over the 
last financial year, with the Company making substantial advances in bringing the 
Lithium Carbonate Project (“Project”) - consisting of the Mt Cattlin Spodumene 
Mine and Jiangsu Lithium Carbonate Plant - into development. 

From completing the Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) at Mt Cattlin through to 
obtaining mining approvals, appointing Engineering, Procurement and 
Construction Management (EPCM) contractors and securing project finance, the 
continuing momentum in 2009 demonstrates the Company's resolve to bring the 
Project to rapid fruition.

We are poised to commence construction in November this year and expect to see 
our first shipment of spodumene to China in the third quarter of 2010.

Setting the pace for the new financial year was the signing of a financing agreement 
with Chinese investment company, Creat Group Company Limited (Creat).  At the 
Extraordinary General Meeting on 14 October 2009 shareholders are asked to  
approve the issue of up to 34 million Shares to Creat Group Co Ltd to raise $29 
million as part of the funding package for the development of Galaxy's Project.  
Creat will provide a debt finance facility of approximately A$130 million at 
commercial market rates and terms enabling Galaxy to fund the entire development 
of both the Mt Cattlin Spodumene Mine and the Jiangsu Lithium Carbonate Project.

It is a testament to the strength of the Company's strategy – and the significant 
potential of the project – that we have secured the support of Creat and we look 
forward to a long and successful future together.

The outlook for lithium carbonate remains extremely positive. With demand forecast 
to increase three fold over the next 10 years on the back of global market growth for 
lithium batteries used in electric car manufacturing, all bodes well for Galaxy's 
Lithium Carbonate Project.

On behalf of the Board, I convey my sincere thanks to Galaxy's Managing Director, 
Iggy Tan and his team for an outstanding year. Without the hard work and 
commitment of management and staff, this progress could not have been achieved.

We look forward with anticipation to an exciting year ahead.

Yours sincerely,

Craig Readhead
Chairman 

Chairman
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WORLD OF LITHIUM

“Galaxy is committed
to meeting the increasing

demand for lithium
as quickly as possible,
and is equally intent on

establishing itself as the
long term strategic
supplier of lithium

carbonate to Asia.”

Lithium (chemical symbol Li), the 3rd element in the periodic table, atomic weight of 
6.94 g/mole, is a member of the group of alkali metals.  The lithium atom is the 
smallest of the metal atoms in the periodic table.  Lithium is a soft silver-grey metal, 
yet when combined with metals such as magnesium, it forms a very strong alloy.

The fascination and versatility of lithium and its compounds are linked to the 
position of lithium in the periodic table of elements.  Due to its high reactivity it is not 
found in nature.  Traces of this element are present in all minerals, in brines, wells, 
clays and in sea water.  Lithium cannot be considered to be very rare and ranks at 
27th place as far as abundance is concerned. Modern daily life is hardly conceivable 
without the beneficial effects of lithium and its compounds.

Spodumene found at Mt Cattlin
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Applications
USERS OF LITHIUM

Air Treatment
5%

Ceramics
& Glass

37%

Batteries
20%Greases

11%

Aluminum
7%

Batteries
20%

Glass & Ceramics
37%

Rubber &
Thermoplastics

5%
Continuous Casting

5%

Pharmaceuticals
2%

Other
10%

Consumption of Lithium by End Use
Source: Roskil Economics of Lithium 2009

Today the application of lithium carbonate or other lithium-enriched materials as 
additives in the glass, enamel and ceramic industries has become very important. 
The addition of lithium oxide in glass manufacturing increases the melting rate 
which increases production throughput and lowers the melting temperature 
providing energy cost savings. For  ceramics, lithium oxide’s very low co-efficient of 
thermal expansion makes it ideal for heat-proof ovenware and ceramic cook tops to 
withstand the thermal shock of rapid temperature changes.  Ceramics and glass 
accounted for around 37% of lithium consumption in 2008.

More importantly, the product is becoming a key requirement to meet the 
production of lithium-ion batteries in the rapidly expanding international hybrid and 
electric vehicle market.  The market has seen unprecedented growth since 2004 
mainly driven by the primary and secondary lithium battery market.  Batteries are 
the second largest end-use for lithium, consisting of 20% of total consumption.

The third largest application for lithium is in the production of multi-purpose 
lubricating greases.  Lubricating grease consists of mineral oil thickened with 
lithium.  Greases accounted for 11% of total consumption in 2008.

Lithium is also used in pharmaceuticals, catalysts and other lithium compounds, air 
conditioning, welding electrodes, nucleonics, luminescent paints, varnishes and 
dyes, rubber production and aluminium production.  In aluminium smelting the 
presence of lithium as lithium fluoride results in lower liquefaction temperature, 
decreased alumina solubility in the bath as well as reduction of hydrogen fluoride 
emissions.  Lithium also plays a key part in the construction industry with the use in 
quick setting cements where it influences the setting time and development of 
strength.
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Batteries
LITHIUM ION BATTERIES

“We have a
fully funded project

that's close to production
and off-take customers

for all of the
lithium carbonate
- so the outlook for

the Project
- and its capacity to

contribute a
greener future

- is extremely positive.”

Lithium-ion batteries (sometimes abbreviated Li-ion batteries) are a type of 
rechargeable battery in which lithium ions move from the negative electrode (anode) 
to the positive electrode (cathode) during discharge, and from the cathode to the 
anode when charged.

Lithium-ion batteries are common in portable consumer electronics because of 
their high energy-to-weight ratios, lack of memory effect, and slow loss of charge 
when not in use. In addition to consumer electronics, lithium-ion batteries are 
increasingly used in defence, automotive, and aerospace applications due to their 
high energy density.

They're generally much lighter than other types of rechargeable batteries of the 
same size. The electrodes of a lithium-ion battery are made of lightweight lithium 
and carbon. Lithium is also a highly reactive element, meaning that a lot of energy 
can be stored in its atomic bonds. This translates into a very high energy density for 
lithium-ion batteries.

Lithium-ion batteries have a higher energy density than most other types of 
rechargeables. This means that for their size or weight they can store more energy 
than other rechargeable batteries. They also operate at higher voltages than other 
rechargeables, typically about 3.7 volts for lithium-ion vs. 1.2 volts for Nickel Metal 
Hydride (NiMH) or Nickel Cadmium (NiCd). This means a single cell can often be 
used rather than multiple NiMH or NiCd cells. Lithium-ion batteries also have a lower 
self discharge rate than other types of rechargeable batteries. This means that once 
they are charged they will retain their charge for a longer time than other types of 
rechargeable batteries. NiMH and NiCd batteries can lose anywhere from 1-5% of 
their charge per day, (depending on the storage temperature) even if they are not 
installed in a device. Lithium-ion batteries will retain most of their charge even after 
months of storage.

The strongest area of growth is in lithium carbonate for use in batteries which has 
increased from 6% of demand in 2000 to 20% in 2008.  As the technology for 
lithium batteries has developed and improved, it’s use has expanded from non-
rechargable batteries for small toys, watches, and cameras to rechargeable 
versions that have supplanted nickel metal hydride making laptops and cellphones 
lighter and run longer. Galaxy expects the next major area of use for lithium 
rechargeable batteries to be the automotive industry.
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Supply

Galaxy Resources Limited
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Spodumene 
Mine

LITHIUM BATTERY SUPPLY CHAIN

The downstream process from the source to the Li batteries has several steps as shown above. Briefly, the concentrated 
spodumene ore is converted to lithium carbonate and supplied to the producers of cathode materials like lithium 
cobaltite, lithium iron phosphate and lithium fluoro phosphate electrolyte. These in turn supply the cathode and battery 
assemblers who deliver the battery pack to the battery and car manufacturers.

Galaxy sponsored the University of Western Australia Electric Car Project.
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The demand for lithium since 2000 has shown a higher growth rate than that in the 
1previous decade at a compound annual growth rate of 6% pa .  Around 20% of the 

total was consumed in lithium batteries, a market segment that has grown by more 
than 3 times in the last 5 years and is forecast to grow at more than 15% from 2013. 
The growth is mainly in lithium batteries for use in electric and hybrid vehicles, 
storage of solar and wind energy and in aluminium alloys for the aerospace industry.

The forecast and outlook presented by the top three world lithium producers, SQM, 
Chemetall, FMC Lithium as well as research groups such as TRU Group and Roskill 
show a world lithium demand growing around three fold in just over ten years.  
Current demand for lithium measured as Lithium Carbonate Equivalent (LCE) is 
around 110,000 tpa.  This is expected to rise to around 250-300,000 tpa in 2020 
driven by secondary (rechargeable) batteries and electric vehicle (EV) batteries.  

In general, the industry experienced a slowdown in 2009 due to the world financial 
situation but strong growth of lithium demand is expected on recovery of the world 
economy.   Galaxy's project is timed to be part of this expected recovery with final 
battery grade lithium carbonate product available in early 2011.  Metals Bulletin 
recently reported that lithium prices have remained incredibly robust, while other 
commodities have been crippled by the financial economic crisis.

Roskill states:
Prices for lithium carbonate will continue to remain high, due to the higher cost of 
mineral conversion compared to brine production, and could perhaps increase to 
around US$7,500-8,000/t by 2013, in line with rising costs for raw materials and 
energy for the mineral conversion process.

    

MARKET OUTLOOK

R Smith (Mining Consultant) and 
P Tornatora (Exploration & 

Geology Manager)

“Prices for
lithium carbonate

will therefore
continue to

remain high.”
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Electric
ELECTRIC VEHICLES

Plug-In electric vehicles (PEV) have the 
longest history among electric vehicles. 
The production reached a peak in the 
early 20th century and accounted for 40% 
of the auto market after the US developed 
the world's first PEV in 1890s.  Since then 
there have been nine large auto makers 
producing 10 models of Plug-In Electric 

Vehicles (PEV) in small quantities across 
the world by the end of 1998.  This 

represents the first generation of electric 
vehicle technology.  For example, Renault released its Peugeot 106 in 

1997, powered with Li-ion batteries.

The market players active in the R&D of second-generation PEV include not only the 
carmakers such as Heuliez, Mitsubishi Motors, Fuji Heavy Industries and GM, but 
also the power suppliers like French Power Supply company, Tokyo Power Supply 
company, Toshiba, Hitachi, ToyoDenki, Sanyo, Asahi Kasei, and NEC etc.  Today, 
there are some 28 different models of PEVs either about to be launched or in 
production by the major car makers around the world.  France is a leader in the world 
as to the penetration rate and ownership of PEV.

There are many parameters that a particular battery technology must meet in order 
to be used in transportation applications: power and energy density (both by weight 
and volume), cycle and calendar life, safety, and of course cost. The over-riding 
criteria is energy and power density, which effectively singles out lithium-based 
architectures as the battery of choice.  Battery makers around the world are racing 
to develop lithium-ion cells to power new plug-in hybrids and electric cars.  These 
include companies like Compact Power; NEC; A123; Panasonic EV; Johnson 
Controls; Hitachi; Altair; Lishen and EnerDel, among others. Carmakers have also 
teamed up with battery makers in the race to develop and supply batteries for the 
future PEV revolution.

Whilst China is catching up in conventional 
vehicle technology, some experts believe 
that in the field PEV, China may be only a few 
years behind that of developed countries.  
Certainly in the fields of Li-ion battery 
technology, China may be at the forefront of 
development.

Galaxy believes that China will play a 
dominant role in the mass production of 
electric vehicles, bringing down the overall 
Hybrid Electronic Vehicle costs and thereby 
driving market acceptance and penetration 
worldwide.   PEV is expected to account for 
10% of the taxies and buses in cities of 
China in the next five years.

“Galaxy Resources
has positioned itself

to meet this
lithium future

by not only mining
the lithium but
by downstream

processing to supply
lithium carbonate

to the lucrative
Asian market.”

J Chan (China Business Co-ordinator) and J Sobolewski (CFO & Company Secretary)
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On behalf of the Galaxy team, I am pleased to report on the outstanding progress we 
have made over the past 12 months. 

The Company has posted numerous achievements during the year that, in 
aggregation, have built a strong foundation for the development of the Lithium 
Carbonate Project, consisting of the Mt Cattlin Spodumene Mine and the Jiangsu 
Lithium Carbonate Plant. 

I would like to thank my management team, staff, contractors and consultants who 
have worked tirelessly to contribute to the significant advances made in their 
respective areas, consolidating Galaxy's position and ensuring we are well placed to 
capitalise on the momentum moving forward.

2009 has been a significant year in the development of the Mt Cattlin Spodumene 
Mine near Ravensthorpe in Western Australia.  All approvals for mining, works and 
clearing have now been granted, paving the way for the next significant milestone in 
the development of the project at Mt Cattlin.  The development of the mine and 
construction of the processing facility will commence in November 2009 with first 
concentrate production targeted by Q3 2010.

The mine will be a significant boon for the Ravensthorpe community with the 
Company committed to a residential workforce over the expected 15 year life of 
theProject. 

In line with the Company's overarching strategic objective of becoming a world 
lithium player, considerable progress was also made on the development of the 
Jiangsu Lithium Carbonate Plant.  A suitable site for the plant has been selected 
within the Yangtze River International Chemical Industrial Park in Jiangsu Province 
of China. 

The proposed site presents a fantastic location as all utilities, consumables and 
processing materials required for lithium carbonate production are available within 
the industrial park which will assist in enhancing the economics of the process. 
Galaxy has already signed letters of intent with several suppliers for soda ash and 
sulphuric acid.  The completion of the Jiangsu Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) for 
this aspect of the Project is on target for completion in October 2009.

Subsequent to the start of the new financial year, a major milestone was achieved 
during August when Galaxy secured project funding for the development of the 
Company's lithium project.

The Company signed a binding Share Subscription and Debt Facility Agreement 
(Agreement) with Creat Group Co Ltd (Creat), a private sector investment company 
based in Beijing, China. Creat will subscribe for 19.9% of Galaxy's expanded 
capital, resulting in at least A$26m for the Company.  Creat will also provide Galaxy 
with 100% debt finance of approximately A$130 million at very attractive interest 
rates for the purpose of developing both the Mt Cattlin Spodumene Mine and 
Jiangsu Lithium Carbonate Plant.

9.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

In addition to underpinning the expedited development of both facets of the Project, 
the funding agreement represents the beginning of a strong and mutually beneficial 
strategic alliance between Creat and Galaxy. 

As part of the funding process, the Company intends to complete a A$65 million 
raising through a placement to international institutions and funds, complementing 
the Creat debt and equity package and minimising risk for our shareholders.  
Initially, the Company has the opportunity to use the Creat full debt facility to finance 
the project.  The Company's intention is to use the additional equity finance raised 
through the Placement to reduce debt to more conservative levels, once operations 
stabilise.  Prior to this, the cash raised by the placement will provide contingency 
finance for servicing the debt facility and to fund any additional costs incurred as a 
result of possible delays and overruns during construction, commissioning and start 
up of the project.  

Of great importance and encouragement to the Company is the degree of interest for 
Galaxy's lithium carbonate product.  We have received letters of intent from 
potential off-take partners in Europe, Japan and China in excess of the total 
available lithium carbonate we will produce per annum.

It has been a truly remarkable year for Galaxy, with significant progress made on all 
elements of the Project.  This year promises to be equally exciting as construction of 
the Mt Cattlin Spodumene Mine commences and we move closer to production in 
late 2010.  It is also pleasing to see that Galaxy's significant progress has been 
reflected in the performance of our share price, with the Company's market 
capitalisation growing from A$25 million to around A$360 million post raising 
during the year.  On behalf of the management team, we thank our shareholders for 
their overwhelming support.

Finally, I would like to thank the Board for their continued support and acknowledge 
the valuable contributions from all of our staff, whose efforts have been crucial in 
helping Galaxy reach these milestones and position the Company for more success.

I look forward to another fast paced year as Galaxy forges ahead on its path to 
becoming a world player in lithium.

Yours sincerely,

Iggy Tan
Managing Director

10.



Funds
PROJECT FULLY FUNDED

Galaxy announced on 25 August 2009, that it has signed a binding Share 
Subscription and Debt Facility Agreement (“Agreement”) for financing its Project 
with Creat Group Co Ltd, a private sector investment company based in Beijing, 
China.

At an Extraordinary General Meeting on 14 October 2009 shareholders are 
requested to approve the issue of 34 million shares (equating to 19.9% of the 
expanded Galaxy capital) to Creat Group Co Ltd as part of the funding package for 
the development of Galaxy's Projects.  As part of the agreement, Creat will provide 
Galaxy with 100% debt finance of approximately A$130 million for the purpose of 
developing the Company's Project.  The first drawdown (A$24 million) from Creat is 
expected on 22 November 2009 and will coincide with the issue of Creat shares 
raising A$29.9 million for the Company assuming shareholders approve the issue n 
14 October 2009.   

Under the Agreement, Creat is entitled to nominate one Non Executive Board 
member to the Galaxy Board.  At the Extraordinary General Meeting on 14 October 
2009, shareholders are asked to approve the appointment of Dr Yuewen Zheng as 
Non Executive Director.

Creat has no off take obligations and Galaxy is therefore free to market its own 
product, positioning itself well to maximise the benefits of anticipated increasing 
lithium carbonate prices.  The Board is thrilled to have secured the interest and 
commitment of Creat as a strategic investor and to provide long term financing 
arrangements for the Company's lithium Projects.  

 

Creat was founded in 1992 as a private enterprise.  Creat is a comprehensive 
enterprise based in Beijing, China.  Its business interests include industry 
(electronics, pharmaceuticals, and food), real estate, finance (including three 
banks) and mineral resources. Creat is a leading member of ACFIC (All China 
Federation of Industry and Commerce) which acts as a facilitator for the 
management of the private sector of the Chinese economy.   Creat owns a zinc-lead 
mine, a molybdenum-tungsten mine, a gold mine in China and a lead and zinc mine 
in Australia and is now seeking to further develop its international portfolio by 
investing in overseas based resource companies.

The share capital and reserves of Creat are approximately USD 800 million and net 
profits last year were nearly USD 100 million.

About Creat

“Project
requirement

of
A$130 million
debt provided

by Creat”

Dr Zheng (Chairman of Creat)
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Galaxy Resources Limited

ADDITIONAL EQUITY RAISING

“Additional 
A$65 million raised

as cash buffer
to support

commissioning
and start up.”

At an Extraordinary General Meeting on 14 October 2009 shareholders are 
requested to approve the issue of 51 million shares as an excluded offer placement 
to sophisticated and institutional investors to raise an additional A$65 million.  The 
Placement will complement the Creat debt funding package for the development of 
Galaxy's Project.

Whilst initially the Company has the opportunity to use the Creat full debt facility to 
finance the Project, the Board's intention is that the equity finance raised by the 
Placement will be used to reduce debt to more conservative levels once the 
operations stabilise.  Prior to this, the cash raised by the Placement will provide 
contingency finance for servicing the debt facility and to fund any additional costs 
incurred as a result of possible delays and overruns during construction, 
commissioning and start up of the Project.  

The additional equity funds raised by the Placement will allow Galaxy to minimise 
risk during the most vulnerable phase of the Project development.  On achieving 
steady state positive cash flow for the Project, the final target debt to equity ratio will 
be around 50-60% which is a very conservative risk profile.  The Board believes that 
this is a prudent approach to funding the Project.

The Ravensthorpe community is in support of Galaxy’s Project

12.



Annual Report 2009

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Lithium Market Growth

Funding in Place

Off-take Arrangements at an Advanced Stage

Australian Source 
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The outlook for lithium consumption appears positive with overall growth 
estimated at 5% - 8% pa.

World lithium demand to grow three fold over the next ten years (from 110,000 
tpa LCE to 300,000 tpa LCE).

Growth driven by Li batteries in electric and hybrid cars, as well as mass energy 
storage systems from 2011 onwards.

Now a fully funded project.

Significant cash reserves to minimise risks during construction, 
commissioning and start up.

Hedging strategy to minimise foreign exchange exposures.

Letters of Intent received from potential off-take partners for all currently 
planned production of Lithium Carbonate.

Total off-take interest amounts to a 130% over subscription of the available 
17,000 tpa of lithium carbonate production. 

Potential partners in Europe, Japan and China.

The Mt Cattlin Spodumene Mine is located approximately 2km north of the 
town of Ravensthorpe in Western Australia.  

The Project involves the mining and processing of pegmatite ore to produce a 
spodumene concentrate for down stream processing to lithium carbonate.    

Ore processing will be at a rate of 1million tonnes per annum at an average 
grade of 1.1% Li O and will produce approximately 137,000 tpa of 2
spodumene concentrate at 6.0% Li O. 2

15 year mine life, with strong potential to expand resource base. 

The spodumene concentrate will be exported through Esperance to the port of 
Zhangjiagang in China.

All approvals successfully completed. 

Construction commences November 2009.

Commissioning and start up Quarter 3, 2010.

Overview
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China Value Adding

Excellent Return Potential

Resource Upside
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The spodumene concentrate will be converted to lithium carbonate at the 
Company's facility close to the Zhangjiagang port in Jiangsu Province.  

The chemical facility will produce a total of 17,000 tonnes per annum of 
battery grade lithium carbonate.  

The site has been selected due to lower associated capital and operating 
costs, as well as being close to the strategic growing battery markets in Asia.

Land and key supplies like acid and soda ash has been secured.

DFS to be finalised in October 2009, although the Company is confident of the 
final capex and project economics.

Business license expected to be finalised in November 2009 allowing Galaxy 
to operate as a wholly owned foreign entity (WOFE).

Location of the plant is close to the major Chinese consumers of Battery Grade 
lithium carbonate.

Construction to commence in January 2010.

The capital investment for the Project is around A$130 million.

The combined Project will generate a life of mine average of A$80 million net 
cash per annum based on the sale of final lithium carbonate and tantalum 
concentrate.  

The Project's Net Present Value (NPV) (real and non-geared, before tax) is 
estimated at $A511million using a discount rate of 8%.  

The Internal Rate of Return (IRR%) is 45% with a payback period of 2.1 years.

The 2009 updated estimates gives contained mineral resources for the Mt 
Cattlin Deposit of 155,000 tonnes of Li 0 and 4.83 million pounds of Ta O  2 5
reported in accordance with the JORC Code and Guidelines. 

The current mine life is 15 years.

The Ravensthorpe area provides Galaxy with very significant exploration 
upside on existing leases owned by the Company, both at surface and at 
depth. 

The modelled ore resource is open-ended in several directions and tenements 
allow for significant exploration drilling with potential for increasing the ore 
resource. 

2
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Returns
POTENTIAL ECONOMICS

“Mt Cattlin will bring
75-100

permanent jobs
to the area.”

Proposed lithium 
carbonate plant design

Capital Cost Estimate 

Capital costs have been determined on the basis of new equipment for processing 
plant and infrastructure. Chinese contractors and technology have been assumed 
for the lithium carbonate plant. This data includes purchase pricing for plant and 
equipment based on quotes from Chinese suppliers.

Returns

The combined Project will generate an LOM average of A$80 million net cash per 
annum based on the sale of final lithium carbonate and tantalum concentrate.  The 
project's Net Present Value (NPV) (real and non-geared, before tax) is estimated at 
$A511 million using a discount rate of 8%.  The Internal rate of Return (IRR%) is 45% 
with a payback period of 2.1 years.

 

 

 

 

 

Capital Costs Capex

China lithium carbonate facility^ A$50 million

Ravensthorpe mine and concentrator A$68 million

Working Capital A$12 million

TOTAL CAPITAL COSTS A$130 million

^Prelimary Estimates subject to final DFS in China

 

 

 

 

 

Project Economics (LOM Ave) Capex

Capital Costs^ A$130 million

Revenue pa*^ A$166 million

Net Cash (pre tax) pa*^ A$80 million

Net Present Value NPV (non-geared, real @ 8%)*^ A$511 million

^Preliminary estimates   *Life of Mine (LOM)   Exchange rate of 0.75 USD$ : AUD$

 
Internal rate of return IRR%*^ 45%

Payback*^ 2.1 years
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Galaxy Resources Limited

PROJECT DETAILS

Project Introduction

Tenement Holdings

The Mt Cattlin Spodumene Mine, located approximately 2 km north of the town of 
Ravensthorpe in Western Australia, is owned by Galaxy Resources Limited.  Galaxy 
Resources holds a series of tenements surrounding and including the mining lease 
M74/12, which contains the majority of the spodumene (LiAlSi O ) resource 2 6
identified to date.  The proposed Project involves the mining and processing of 
pegmatite ore to produce a spodumene concentrate and a tantalum by-product.   
Ore processing will be at a rate of 1 million tpa at an average grade of 1.1% Li O and 2
will produce approximately 137,000 tpa of spodumene concentrate at 6.0% Li O 2
and 56,000 lbs pa of contained tantalum (Ta O ) in concentrate.2 5

Spodumene concentrate will be transported by road train to Esperance to be 
shipped out through the Port of Esperance to Zhangjiagang Port in China.  Tantalum 
concentrate would be transported to Perth and packaged in 200 litre drums before 
shipment in containers from Fremantle.

The spodumene concentrate will be converted to lithium carbonate at the 
Company's facility close to the Zhangjiagang Port in Jiangsu Province.  
Zhangjiagang City is located in the geometrical centre of the Yangtze River Delta, 
Jiangsu Province, one of the important economic open areas within one hours drive 
of Shanghai.  The chemical facility will produce a total of 17,000 tpa of battery grade 
lithium carbonate.  The site has been selected due to lower associated capital and 
operating costs, and its close proximity to the strategic growing battery markets in 
Asia.

The list of tenement holdings is shown below:

16.

Applied
Date

Lease Status Current
Area (Ha)

Name Grant
Date

Operator

6 Dec 83 M74/12 GRANTED 146RAVENSTHORPE 22 Jul 86

Galaxy Resources Ltd

1 Aug 01M74/155 GRANTED 137NORTH RAVENSTHORPE 26 Nov 08

3 Sep 01M74/158 APPLICATION 40MARION MARTIN -

3 Sep 01M74/159 APPLICATION 323CATTLIN NORTH -

13 Sep 04M74/182 GRANTED 340RAVENSTHORPE 26 Nov 08

21 Apr 05M74/196 APPLICATION 422RAVENSTHORPE -

21 Apr 05M74/197 APPLICATION 337RAVENSTHORPE -

4 Sep 08P74/326 APPLICATION 3RAVENSTHORPE -

4 Sep 08P74/327 APPLICATION 19RAVENSTHORPE -

4 Sep 08P74/328 APPLICATION 28RAVENSTHORPE -

4 Sep 08P74/329 APPLICATION 4RAVENSTHORPE -

4 Sep 08P74/330 APPLICATION 13RAVENSTHORPE -

4 Sep 08P74/331 APPLICATION 0.003RAVENSTHORPE -

4 Sep 08P74/332 APPLICATION 2.6RAVENSTHORPE -

4 Sep 08P74/333 APPLICATION 0.1RAVENSTHORPE -
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Resources Statement

The results of an independent resource estimation of the Mt Cattlin lithium tantalum 
deposit were released in December 2007.  An updated interim resource estimate 
was completed in December 2008 for a northern portion of the Project area called 
the Dowling pit.  The updated resource estimate for the entire deposit was produced 
in May 2009. The geological model was prepared by Galaxy and the resource 
estimation was prepared by resource consultants Hellman and Schofield Pty Ltd 
(H&S). The 2009 updated estimate gives contained mineral resources for the Mt 
Cattlin Deposit of 155,000 tonnes of Li 0 and 4.83 million pounds of Ta O  2 2 5
reported below in accordance with the JORC Code and Guidelines. The classification 
of the Mt Cattlin mineral resource as at May 2009 is shown below:

Note: Li O cutoff grade >= 0.4% Li O and no upper grade threshold modulation.  Figures in the above table may not sum 
due to rounding.

Updated cost and revenue figures, including data for the Jiangsu Lithium Carbonate 
Plant have been used in preparing this new reserve statement.

2 2

Reserve Statement
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Category Tonnes Ta O ppm2 5Li %O2

Measured 2,260,000 1431.19

Indicated 7,064,000 1561.10

Inferred 5,044,000 1521.01

TOTAL 14,368,000 1531.08

Reserve Tonnes Ta O ppm2 5Li O%2

Proved 2,333,400 1.09 130

Probable 6,949,600 1.02 140

TOTAL 9,283,000 1.04 138

Note: Li O cutoff grade >= 0.4% Li O and no upper grade threshold  modulation.2 2
 Figures in the above table may not sum due to rounding.
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Ore reserves are based on the May 2009 Mt Cattlin global resource estimate.  
Reserves were estimated within an optimal Whittle pit shell developed by 
consultants Orelogy and a final pit design prepared by Mining Resources.  95% 
mining recovery and 10% dilution have been assumed.

Reserve estimation has incorporated data from resource definition drilling, 
geological modelling/resource estimation, detailed surface topography surveys, 
metallurgical test work, process/plant design, capital/processing cost estimation 
and mine planning.  The DFS model is based on a 15 year mine life.  The pit design 
incorporates geotechnical pit design parameters developed by Dempers and 
Seymour and haul ramp designs suitable for 85t trucks.

In addition to the reserves stated above, the design pit shells contain 3.47 million 
tonnes at 1.02% Li O and 141ppm Ta O  of inferred resources.  Galaxy believes 2
there is a good chance that most of these inferred resources will be converted to 
reserves with additional drilling.

Galaxy is currently completing a drill program to upgrade inferred resources to 
indicated or measured category, in addition to drilling for resource extensions.
  

2 5

Proposed pit shells, with contained resource blocks coloured by Li O grade overlain on airphoto.2



Mt Cattlin
MT CATTLIN SPODUMENE MINE (Ravensthorpe, WA)

 

  

 
 

 
 

  

  

  

Mining

Processing

The mine is based on simple, risk free open-pit mining 
and processing of 15 million tonnes of ore over a 15 
year period from the Cattlin Creek ore body.  The ore 
body being flat lying allows mining to proceed at a 
constant strip ratio once the ore is uncovered.  Mining 
will be carried out using excavator and truck 
operations, delivering to a conventional crushing and 
HMS gravity recovery circuit.

Contract mining will be used for grade control drilling 
and earthmoving operations (drilling, blasting, load, 
haul and ancillary work) for the open-cut mining 
operation.  The initial pit design encompasses 
existing measured and indicated resources and has 
been defined as the Dowling pit.

The processing plant is located to the west of the proposed Dowling pit, approximately 2 kilometres north-west of the 
Ravensthorpe townsite.  The plant consists of a four-stage crushing circuit producing a -6mm product from ROM ore at a 
treatment rate of 1 million tonnes per annum.  The crushing plant runs on day shift only providing feed to an ore bin which 
feeds the concentrator on a continuous 24 hour per day basis.

The concentrator consists of reflux classifier, dual size stream, two stages of Heavy (or Dense) Media Separation (HMS) 
cyclones, with mechanical attritioning of the intermediate sink product.  The final spodumene concentrate will be 
stacked on a pad adjacent to the plant area, drained and hauled by road to Esperance for shipment in bulk.  Coarse 
waste HMS plant float material will be stacked adjacent to the plant area, and hauled by truck to mined out areas of the 
pit(s) as back-fill.

The HMS pre-screen undersize (-0.5mm) is treated by gravity separation (spiral classifiers) to recover tantalite and 
residual spodumene.  Tantalite concentrates will be trucked to contractors in Perth for dressing and packaging in 200 
litre drums for shipment by container from Fremantle.  A last stage grinding and flotation step at the end of the process 
recovers and returns spodumene to the final product.  Tantalite circuit tailings and other plant spillage streams will be 
directed to a thickener for process water recovery.  Thickener underflow will be pumped to a tailings dam approximately 
500 metres from the plant.

Power will be provided by dedicated diesel generators, and process water will be sourced from bores located on the 
tenements.  The workforce is expected to be domiciled in Ravensthorpe and/or Hopetoun.

19.



MT CATTLIN SPODUMENE MINE (Ravensthorpe, WA)

“With a mine life
of 15 years

and considerable
resource upside

thanks to the
significant exploration

potential of our
neighbouring
tenements -

Galaxy's future
looks assured.”

The key process steps are:

Open pit mining

Crushing and screening of ROM ore to -6mm

Reflux Classifier to remove mica flakes

Two stage heavy media separation (HMS) in two separate size streams

Gravity concentration (spirals and wet tables) of tantalite minerals

Grinding and flotation of - 0.5mm stream to remove residual spodumene 

Contract dressing and packaging of tantalite concentrates (in Perth)

Production of 137,000 tonnes of spodumene concentrate @ 6.0% Li O2

Shipment of bulk concentrate through Esperance to Zhangjiagang in China

Galaxy has secured Works Approval from the Department of Environment and 
Conservation (DEC) and Mining Approval from the Department of Mines and 
Petroleum (DoMP) to commence the mine and construction of the minerals 
processing plant at Ravensthorpe.  Construction is expected to commence during 
November 2009 and the facility is expected to be producing spodumene in the third 
quarter of 2010.

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

Approval Green Light  
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Galaxy Resources Limited

Mt Cattlin

Flow Diagram - Mine & Concentrator
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producer
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JIANGSU LITHIUM CARBONATE PLANT (Zhangjiagang, China)

Shanghai 

Zhangjiagang
Port

LITHIUM
CARBONATE PLANT

China

Galaxy's lithium carbonate plant is being established at Zhangjiagang, a rapidly 
growing industrial port city located in the centre of the Yangtze River delta, some 80 
km north west of the key central coastal city of Shanghai.  The Yangtze is the largest 
river in China and the backbone of the Chinese economy.  

Galaxy's plant is therefore located in one of the most developed and most modern 
parts of China.  In selecting this location, Galaxy has succeeded in its targeted 
strategy of establishing itself on the most competitive terms within the one nation 
which has demonstrated its ability to successfully produce high quality lithium 
carbonate from the (hard rock) spodumene through the up and down cycles of the 
market.

Galaxy's cost and product quality advantages will make it the lowest cost producer 
in China.  These include :

The proposed scale of operation and it’s coastal location adjoining a major 
port.

Advantages offered by operating in the Jiangsu Yangtze River International 
Chemical Industrial Park

The benefits of adapting proven Chinese extraction techniques to incorporate 
Australian standard continuous operation procedures.

The fact that most of China's existing lithium carbonate production is located in 
the far western regions of the country, and hence involves very considerable 
additional transport charges as it takes about 8 tonnes of concentrate to make 
each tonne of carbonate.

Galaxy's designated plant capacity of 17,000 tpa which is far larger than the 
existing largest producer (current largest is 6,000 tpa). 

Galaxy's intention to pay particular attention to the quality of process input 
materials, an area where existing Chinese producers may not be strong.

Strategic location of the site close to major Li battery cathode materials 
producers.

Profit maximizations has been aided by the fact that, in securing the required equity 
and debt funding, Galaxy has not been forced into any off-take agreements. It 
therefore remains free to secure the best possible price for all of its production.  

Zhangjiagang has a population of some 880,000, with a per capita GDP exceeding 
USD 12,000.  It is an important shipping and distribution centre for steel, oil, timber 
and cereals.  The port has the capacity to cater for vessels of up to 80,000 dwt and it 
handles cargoes through some 19 international shipping lines, handling freight 
business to more than 140 ports globally.  Port throughput capacity currently 
exceeds 100 million tonnes annually.

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

About Zhangjiagang



Jiangsu
“Free Trade Zone

facilitates
foreign investment
and has attracted

more than
400 foreign
companies.”
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JIANGSU LITHIUM CARBONATE PLANT (Zhangjiagang, China)

Galaxy's plant will be located within the Jiangsu Yangtze River International 
Chemical Industrial Park, one of four adjoining zones established at Zhangjiagang 
that are given preferential tax treatment .

The other zones are:  

The Zhangjiagang Free Trade Zone – a special economic zone offering tax and 
license exemption, and bonded operation; with focuses including chemicals, 
mechanics and electronics.  

The Zhangjiagang Bonded Logistics Zone – which offers special bonded logistics 
functions including large scale storage of chemicals. 

The Yangtze River Hi Tech Industrial Park – which focuses on IT; equipment 
manufacture; energy economy and environmental protection projects; and auto 
parts.

One of the aims in establishing these Zones is to facilitate the development of 
environmentally friendly technology. Since the first approvals were given in 1992, 
they have attracted more than 3,000 enterprises, including some 400 foreign 
funded enterprises, of which 20 are “Fortune 500” companies.  

All of these Zones offer preferential terms to industrial and logistics companies.  In 
the case of Galaxy, the benefits include preferential income tax treatment as well as 
access to land on preferential terms; the waiver of a number of local taxes; and VAT 
rebates.

The Park has an area of 24km² and was approved for development by the provincial 
government in May 2001.  Since that time it has attracted investment from 7 of the 
top 10 world chemical companies including Dow Chemical, Dow Corning, Du Pont, 
Chevron Phillips, Unocal, Wacker, Messer and Sumitomo.

The Park has the biggest liquid chemical storage facilities in the Yangtze River Valley 
with ten separate 10,000 tonne petrochemical storage terminals either completed 
or under construction. The total volume of liquid storage capacity is nearly 800,000 
cubic metres.  The focus has been on products such as Fine Chemicals, Biomedical 
Engineering and Engineering Plastics.  There is also an eco-friendly industry focus 
and an aim to develop a “Circular Economy” – where the intermediate products 
produced within the Park are also consumed within the Park.  

An element of this is the offering to all participants of reticulated liquid chemicals, 
raw materials, industrial gases, steam and finished products throughout the park.  
Galaxy this means it will have ready access to its key process inputs being power, 
steam, sulphuric acid and caustic soda, as well as a ready market for its two by-
waste products, being alumina silicate (saleable to cement works) and sodium 
sulphate (saleable to detergent manufacturers).

ª

ª

ª

About the Jiangsu Yangtze River International Chemical Industrial Park

C Readhead (Chairman of Galaxy)
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JIANGSU LITHIUM CARBONATE PLANT (Zhangjiagang, China)

The Park has been acknowledged for its environmentally friendly operation. It has 
been awarded as a model for synchronised development of the economy and the 
environment.

The Company's spodumene feed will be shipped and unloaded at the Zhangjiagang 
Port and transferred to the nearby lithium carbonate plant (less than 0.5km from the 
berth) for conversion.

Galaxy has signed a Letter of Intent (LOI) with site neighbour, Two Lions 
(Zhangjiagang) Fine Chemicals Co., Ltd. (Two Lions) to supply 38,000 tonnes of 
sulphuric acid per annum for 15 years.  The supply arrangement also includes a 
quantity of caustic soda (sodium hydroxide) and steam, as well as access to state of 
the art wharf unloading facilities.  Two Lions is based in the Yangtze River 
International Chemical Industrial Park, next door to the site for Galaxy's lithium 
carbonate plant.   Two Lions was founded in 2003 and is a large scale chemical 
enterprise, predominantly engaged in producing basic chemical raw material feed. 

The Company also secured a key supply of soda ash (sodium carbonate) with the 
Jiangsu Huachang Chemical Co. Limited (Huachang).  Huachang will supply 40,000 
tonnes of soda ash (Na CO ) per annum for 15 years. Huachang is based in the 2
Yangtze River International Chemical Industrial Park, close to Galaxy's lithium 
carbonate plant site.  Huachang is a core enterprise of Jiangsu Huachang Group 
Limited and is mainly involved in the manufacture of basic chemicals, fine 
chemicals and bio-chemicals.

 

The following key process steps are involved in the conversion of spodumene to 
lithium carbonate:

Decrepitation – rotary kiln 

Sulphating roast and leaching

Precipitation and Ion exchange

Lithium carbonate crystallisation

Sodium sulphate crystallisation

17,000 tpa  battery grade lithium carbonate production

Sales of 1 tonne lots in 25kg bags of product through the port of
Zhangjiagang to Japan, Korea and Europe

Sales of 1 tonne lots in 25kg bags of product within China

Key Supplies Secured

Jiangsu Lithium Carbonate Plant 

3

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

ª

Two Lions Co Ltd Acid Plant

Jiangsu Huachang Chemical Co Ltd
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JIANGSU LITHIUM CARBONATE PLANT (Zhangjiagang, China)

“Galaxy Resources
is on track to meet
the lithium future

and establish
itself as a

world player
in lithium production.”
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Feed Preparation

Sulphating Roast

Leaching and Residue Removal

Decrepitation is an essential prerequisite for the hydrometallurgical processing of 
spodumene ore. In this step, the heat treatment of the ore results in a crystal phase 
change from the alpha to the beta form, thus making the lithium content amenable 
to displacement by sodium.  Moist spodumene concentrate averaging 6% Li O and 2
5% moisture is reclaimed from an open stockpile area and is fed to a rotary kiln.  
Decrepitation takes place at 1,070 °C – 1,090°C.  The kiln product consists of a 
granular mix of beta-spodumene and unreacted gangue minerals, which upon 
leaving the kiln is cooled to about 100°C in a fluid bed cooler. The cooled kiln 
product is then milled in a dry grinding mill to reduce the material to below 200ìm in 
preparation for the subsequent sulphation process step.

Dry, milled beta spodumene is thoroughly mixed with concentrated sulphuric acid in 
a pug mixer. The mixed material exiting the pug mixer is fed directly into the 
sulphating kiln. The sulphating kiln has a 2 hour residence time and the roast takes 
place at a pH of about 1-2 and temperature of 230°C.  Around 3 tonnes per hour of 
Li SO  is produced in the sulphating roast. Dry material exiting the sulphating kiln is 2 4
cooled and gravity fed directly into the leach tank.

Leaching takes place in a single stage leach tank which receives solids from the 
sulphating kiln, spent liquor and make up water.   An optimal pulp density is 
maintained to maximise the lithium concentration at crystallisation as well as to 
ensure that the solubility limit of lithium sulphate during leaching is not exceeded.  
The leach tank will operate at ambient pressure and temperature of approximately 
80-90°C.  The lithium sulphate / residue slurry exiting the leach tank is pumped to a 
thickener and filter system to separate the gangue solids from the process liquor. 

Flow Diagram - Jiangsu Lithium Carbonate Plant
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JIANGSU LITHIUM CARBONATE PLANT (Zhangjiagang, China)

Precipitation and Ion Exchange

Li CO Crystallisation2 3 

Product Recovery and Packaging

Na SO  Crystallisation2 4

The precipitation circuit is designed to remove iron, magnesium and calcium 
impurities from the lithium sulphate solution and present a clear filtrate to the 
lithium carbonate crystallisation stage. Caustic soda is added in three precipitation 
steps.  The precipitated solids and process liquor is then pumped to the precipitate 
thickener and filter system to separate the process liquor from the precipitated 
solids.  The process liquor is then passed through a media filter to polish the liquor 
stream prior to it entering the ion exchange module. The ion exchange module 
comprises two resin columns in a duty – standby arrangement to allow for a 
backwash stage once the column resin is loaded.

Lithium carbonate crystallisation takes place in a two-stage crystalliser system. The 
essential requirements for the crystallisation process are the addition of soda ash 
(sodium carbonate) and the increase in temperature of the system.  The first 
crystallisation stage operates at atmospheric pressure and at 80°C primarily for 
crystal nucleation.  The second stage of crystallisation is for crystal growth. The 
second stage of crystallisation operates at atmospheric pressure and at 95°C and 
provides additional crystal residence time.  The lithium carbonate slurry from the 
second crystalliser reports to the lithium thickener where the lithium carbonate 
crystals are allowed to settle to allow separation from the spent liquor. 

The slurry containing the lithium carbonate crystals is gravity fed onto a two stage 
wash centrifuge with intermediate hot condensate wash to remove residual sodium 
from the cake. The product filter cake discharging from the centrifuge at 15 – 25% 
moisture is fed into an indirectly heated rotary drum drier, heated by a gas fired 
burner system. The dried product is then conveyed to a storage silo in the bagging 
facility.

Removal of sodium sulphate is essential from the process liquor before it is reused 
at the front of the process. Sodium sulphate crystallisation takes place in an 
evaporative crystalliser system.  The sodium sulphate slurry formed in the sulphate 
crystallisation stage reports to the sodium sulphate thickener where the solids are 
allowed to settle and then underflow to a vacuum belt filter.  The sodium sulphate is 
sold as a by-product to the detergent industry.
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Chemical Content (Indicative Analysis)
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Galaxy Resources Limited

OTHER ACTIVITIES
Activities

Tenement Acquisitions

Shoemaker Project

The Company has also increased its tenement holding in the Mt Cattlin region by 
signing a 100% purchase agreement for a block of tenements from Vistarise Limited 
for $100,000 in July 2008.

The tenements, located to the north of the Mt Cattlin resource, are contiguous with 
Galaxy's Mt Cattlin tenements as well as its Mining Lease application. The 
occurrence of scattered pegmatites at surface suggests there is potential for more 
substantial and continuous pegmatite bodies at depth.

In addition to the Vistarise acquisition, Galaxy significantly also extended its 
tenement footprint near the Mt Cattlin through an agreement to acquire an 80% 
interest in a block of tenements from Traka Resources Limited.

Rock chip sampling of pegmatite outcrops on the tenement package have returned 
significant Li O values showing excellent potential for complex, lithium tantalum-2
bearing pegmatites.

Both acquisitions have the potential to further extend the life of the Project and 
demonstrate the robust nature of the project.

During the year, Galaxy signed a sale and joint venture (SJV) agreement with General 
Mining Corporation Limited (GMC) for the exploration and development of the 
Shoemaker hematite iron ore project. 

Given that Galaxy's core focus is the development of the Mt Cattlin lithium project, 
the proposed sale and joint venture of Shoemaker is an excellent way of developing 
the project and maintaining an upside.

The Shoemaker project is located about 100 km north of Wiluna, Western Australia. 
In August 2008, Galaxy announced the results of a gravity survey and rock chip 
sampling of hematite iron mineralisation. Assay results of the rock chip sampling 
confirmed the presence of high grade hematite iron mineralisation at the project.
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Team
BOARD AND MANAGEMENT TEAM

Craig Readhead  B Juris LLb  - Non Executive Chairman

Iggy Tan BSc, MBA, MAICD  - Managing Director

Robert Wanless  - Non-Executive Director

Terry Stark   - General Manager Operations

Anand Sheth   - General Manager Marketing & Business  Development

John Sobolewski - CFO & Company Secretary

Mr Readhead holds the degrees of Bachelor of Law and Bachelor of Jurisprudence from the University of Western 
Australia.  He has spent the last 28 years practicing in the resources law area and was a partner of a major Perth Law firm 
before forming his own practice 14 years ago. He is now a partner of the law firm Allion Legal.  Mr Readhead has had a 
significant role in the development of a number of mining projects within Australia, Africa and South East Asia.  Mr 
Readhead is a director of a number of listed and unlisted companies.

Mr Tan is an experienced operations manager with over 24 years of experience in the mining and chemical industry. He 
also has  a proven background in both marketing and business development. Mr Tan has been in managerial roles with 
SCM Chemicals and Sons of Gwalia; and General Manager roles at Westlime, Iluka Resources (MW), Imdex Minerals and 
Metals X Limited. His responsibilities have included the commissioning and operations management of several 
significant mining and processing projects in Western Australia. During his time at Iluka, he won the Prime Minister's 
Community and Business Partnership Award for industry commitment to local communities in WA.  Mr Tan is a former 
Chairman of the Western Australian Chamber of Minerals and Energy's Murchison Regional Council.  Mr Tan managed 
the Lithium Mineral and Lithium Carbonate plants at Sons of Gwalia’s Greenbushes operations in 1995. Mr Tan was 
previously the Managing Director of Nickelore Limited.

Mr Robert Wanless is a prospector and mining investor with 33 years mining industry experience, he was employed by 
Placer Exploration Limited as a professional prospector and exploration supervisor covering South East Asia and 
Australia including exploration at Laloki, Watut and Pleysumi (PNG) and throughout Western Australia.  Since then he 
embarked on all aspects of mineral exploration, assessment, acquisition, fieldwork, development and mining, mainly in 
Western Australia. He has negotiated numerous mining related sale and joint venture agreements with several 
international and Australian mining companies involving gold, base metals and industrial mineral properties. Recently 
he managed the Alicia Gold Mine in Western Australia. He is a past founding director of ASX listed Greenstone Resources 
NL.

Mr Terry Stark is a mining engineer with more than 35 years of experience throughout Australia in the nickel, gold, 
manganese and chromite industries. His experience covers mine development and operation and he has been 
responsible for the construction of two new projects in recent years. He is the holder of a West Australian First Class Mine 
Manager's Certificate of Competency and a Quarry Manager's Certificate of Competency.

Mr Anand Sheth is a Technical and Marketing professional with more than 25 years. For the past 10 years, Mr Sheth has 
been the Lithium and Tantalum Marketing Manager at Talison Minerals Pty Ltd (ex-Sons of Gwalia Limited). Mr Sheth is 
highly experienced in the international marketing and global sales of lithium and tantalite mineral products. During his 
time at Sons of Gwalia, he played an integral role in developing the lithium business, growing sales by 150% within 5 
years.

Mr John Sobolewski is a CA qualified accounting professional with ten years experience in the accounting industry, 
including five years in executive roles with companies within the resources industry in Western Australia. Most recently, 
Mr Sobolewski was CFO and Company Secretary for Vital Metals Limited (ASX: VML). Mr Sobolewski's previous 
experience also includes positions as Financial Controller and Company Secretary with Croesus Mining NL and Group 
Accountant and Company Secretary with Titan Resources NL.



Michael Tamlin - General Manager China

Philip Tornatora - Exploration & Geology Manager 

Terry Brittliffe - Mt Cattlin Project Consultant 

Michael Kitney - Jiangsu Lithium Carbonate Project Consultant 

Mr Tamlin was General Manager-Marketing at Sons of Gwalia Limited (currently Talison Minerals Pty Ltd) from 1995 to 
2006 looking after lithium and tantalum sales as well as other products.  Most recently, he was General Manager-
Marketing at Windimurra Vanadium Limited.  Mr Tamlin, a metallurgist by background, speaks fluent Mandarin and has 
spent many years doing business in China for Sons of Gwalia and Windimurra Vanadium. 
Mr Tamlin will be based in Zhangjiagang, Jiangsu Province, China and will be responsible for development of the Jiangsu 
Lithium Carbonate project. He will also be responsible for establishing the long term strategic partnerships in China 
required as an emerging lithium producer. 

Mr Philip Tornatora is a geologist with over 16 years gold and base metals experience in Australia, Africa and SE Asia. His 
experience has been principally in regional and near mine exploration and resource development roles. Prior to his 
current position, he worked for a number of years for AngloGold Ashanti, most recently as District Geologist, Philippines, 
and prior to that as Exploration Manager, Mali.

Mr Terry Brittliffe is a qualified metallurgist and chemist who has worked in mining all his life, having over 40 years 
experience in technical, operational and managerial positions within the industry. As well as a period of 6 years in 
corporate management in 1984-1989, he has run his own consultancy since 1980, specialising in operational and 
project management, with emphasis on project conceptualization and design, and troubleshooting and production 
“debottlenecking”. He has had experience in iron ore, mineral sands, gold and silver, strategic metals, industrial 
minerals and the assessment and application of technical innovations to mineral processing.

Mr Michael Kitney is a qualified metallurgist who is the consultant engineer with MSP Engineering Pty Ltd.  He has 39 
years experience in the mining industry having worked as a process engineer, operational and managerial positions with 
companies like WMC, Alcoa, British Phosphate Comissioners, Golconda Minerals Minproc Engineers and Nelson 
Resources.  Mr Kitney was the commissioning Minproc engineer responsible for the Sons of Gwalia lithium carbonate 
plant.

Competent Persons
Information that relates to Mineral Resources in this report is based on information compiled by Mr. Robert Spiers who is a full time employee of 
Hellman & Schofield Pty Ltd. Information that relates to Exploration Results including exploration data and geological interpretations is based on 
information compiled by Mr Philip Tornatora who is a full time employee of Galaxy Resources Limited. Mr Spiers and Mr Tornatora are Members of the 
Australian Institute of Geoscientists and qualify as Competent Persons as defined in the 2004 JORC Code.  Mr. Spiers and Mr Tornatora consent to the 
inclusion in this report of the matters based on their information in the form and context in which it appears. 
 Information in this report that relates to Mineral Ore Reserves is based on information compiled by Mr. Glenn Williamson who is a full time employee of 
Mining Resources Pty Ltd.  Mr. Williamson has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 
consideration and to the activity he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 JORC Code.  Mr. Williamson consents to the 
inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT 
 
 
The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Galaxy Resources Limited and the entity it controlled at the 
end of the year ended 30 June 2009. 
 
DIRECTORS 
The Directors of the Company during and since the end of the financial year are: 
C L Readhead (Chairman) 
I KS Tan (Managing Director since 11 November 2008) – appointed Director 18 September 2008  
R J Wanless 
M G Fotios (Managing Director until 11 November 2008) – resigned as Director 17 December 2008 

 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The principal activities of the Company during the course of the financial year were exploration for minerals.  There was no significant 
change in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
RESULTS 
The net amount of consolidated loss of the economic entity for the financial year after income tax was $2,713,478 (2008 loss 
$393,120). 
 
DIVIDENDS 
No dividends have been paid by the Company during the financial year ended 30 June 2009, nor have the Directors recommended 
that any dividends be paid. 
 
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
During the year the Company activities focussed on the completion of the Definitive Feasibility Study for the Mt Cattlin 
lithium/tantalum project at Ravensthorpe in Western Australia. Following completion of this study, the decision was made by the 
Board to proceed with the project. 
 
A Pre-Feasibility Study was completed for downstream processing of lithium carbonate produced at the Mt Cattlin lithium/tantalum 
project. The results, although positive, indicated that the project economics could be improved by locating the lithium chemical plant 
closer to lithium carbonate end markets and lower associated capital and operating costs. The Company received Letters of Intent 
from potential off take partners for its initial production of Lithium Carbonate. 
 
The Company has now commenced the Definitive Feasibility Study of the Jiangsu Lithuium Carbonate Project in China and secured 
a site in the Zhangjiagang free trade zone. 
 
The Company raised capital of: 

 $1.44 million (before costs) during January/February 2009 by way of a placement of 4,120,000 shares and 4,120,000 free 
attaching options at $0.35 cents each.  

 $0.33 million during February 2009 by way of a Share Purchase Plan at $0.35 cents each.  
 $1.97 million (before costs) during April 2009 by way of a placement of 6,560,000 shares at $0.30 each. 
 $3.29 million (before costs) during May 2009 by way of a placement of 9,400,000 shares at $0.35 each.  

 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
The state of affairs of the Company was not affected by any significant changes during the year. 
 
MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  
Except for the following, no matters or events have arisen since the end of the financial year, which significantly affected the 
operations of the Company, the results of the Company or the state of affairs of the Company: 

 The 100% owned subsidiary, Telescopium Resources Limited, changed its name to Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited on 6 
July 2009. 

 Galaxy Lithium International Limited, a Hong Kong based subsidiary of Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited was established 
on 23 July 2009.  

 9,600,000 shares were issued on 8 September 2009, to raise $3.36 million (before costs) following approval at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 August 2009.  

 On 25 August 2009, the Company announced that it had secured a debt finance facility of approximately $130 million with 
Creat Group Co. Limited, combined with a placement of 19.9% of the Company’s expanded capital, both of which are 
subject to shareholder approval. The funds will be used to develop the Mt Cattlin Lithium/Tantalum and Jiangsau Lithium 
Carbonate Projects.  

 
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
The Company intends to continue exploration and development of its existing tenements and to seek investment opportunities in the 
resources industry. 
 
Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Company and expected results of operations have not been 
included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company. 
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PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS’ QUALIFICATIONS, EXPERIENCE AND SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
Craig Readhead B Juris, LL.B.  
Mr Readhead is a lawyer with over thirty (30) years legal and corporate advisory experience with specialisation in the resources 
sector, including the implementation of large scale mining projects both in Australia and overseas.  Mr Readhead is a former 
president of the Australian Mining and Petroleum Law Association and is the managing partner of specialist mining and corporate 
law firm, Pullinger Readhead Lucas.  Mr Readhead is chairman of Heron Resources Limited (2001 to current), Agincourt Resources 
Limited (2003 to April 2007) and is a non executive director of Mount Gibson Iron Limited (2002 to current), Frankland River Olive 
Company Limited (2000 to current) and India Resources Limited (January 2007 to current).  He was also a director of Nickelore 
Limited (formerly Halcyon Group Limited) (April 2000 to October 2007). 
 
Michael George Fotios   Bsc (Hons Geology) MAusIMM – Resigned 17 December 2008 
Mr Fotios has qualifications in Geology specialising in Economic Geology with extensive experience in exploration throughout 
Australia working with gold, base metals, tantalum, tin and nickel from exploration to feasibility over the last 25 years.  He 
previously held positions with Homestake Australia Limited and Sons of Gwalia Limited.  He was Managing Director and a Director 
with Tantalum Australia NL (now ABM Resources Ltd) from September 1999 to October 2005.   
  
Robert J Wanless  
Mr Wanless is a prospector and mining investor with over 34 years mining industry experience.  He was employed by Placer 
Exploration Limited as a professional prospector and exploration supervisor covering SE Asia and Australia including exploration at 
Laloki, Watnut and Pleysumi (PNG) and throughout Western Australia.  Since then he has embarked on all aspects of mineral 
exploration, assessment, acquisition, field work, development and mining focussing on Western Australia.  He has negotiated 
numerous mining related sales and joint venture agreements with publicly listed companies involving gold and base metal properties.  
Recently he has managed the Alicia Gold Mine in the Laverton district in WA.  He is founding director of ASX listed Red 5 Ltd 
(formerly Greenstone Resources NL) and is responsible for the Company’s Ravensthorpe WA nickel, gold and tantalum exploration 
and development activities. 
  
Iggy KS Tan  BSc, MBA, MAICD – Appointed 18 September 2008 
Mr Tan is an experienced operations manager with over 22 years of experience in the mining and chemical industry. He has also a 
proven background in both marketing and business development.  Mr Tan has been in managerial roles with SCM Chemicals & Sons 
of Gwalia; and General Manager roles at Westlime, Iluka Resources (MW), Imdex Minerals and Metals X Limited.  His 
responsibilities have included the commissioning and operations management of several significant mining and processing projects 
in Western Australia. Mr Tan managed the Lithium Mineral and Lithium Carbonate plants at Sons of Gwalia, Greenbushes 
operations in 1995.    
 
Mr Tan is currently Managing Director of Nickelore Limited.  During his time at Iluka, he won the Prime Minister’s Community and 
Business Partnership award for industry commitment to local communities in WA.  Mr Tan is a former Chairman of the Western 
Australian Chamber of Minerals and Energy’s (CME) Murchison Regional Council.  He is also a member of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.   
 
COMPANY SECRETARY  - Appointed 23 January 2009 
John Sobolewski BComm CA  
Mr Sobolewski is a CA qualified accounting professional with ten years experience in the accounting industry, including five years in 
executive roles with companies within the resources industry in Western Australia. Most recently, Mr Sobolewski was CFO and 
Company Secretary for Vital Metals Limited. Mr Sobolewski’s previous experience also includes positions as Financial Controller 
and Company Secretary with Croesus Mining NL and Group Accountant and Company Secretary with Titan Resources NL.  
 
JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES  - Resigned 23 January 2009 
Lindsay A Colless CA, FCID 
Mr Colless is Chairman of Mineral Administration Services Pty Ltd, a Western Australian based company that provides 
management, company secretarial, accounting, treasury and financial administration services to listed public companies in the 
resources and financial services industries.  He is a director and/or company secretary of a number of publicly listed companies 
including Alkane Resources Ltd group, Austral Africa Resources Ltd, and Newland Resources Ltd group, in Australia. 

 
Karen E V Brown BEc (hons) 
Miss Brown is a director and company secretary of Mineral Administration Services Pty Ltd.  She has considerable experience in 
corporate administration of listed companies over a period exceeding 20 years, primarily in the mineral exploration industry.  She is 
company secretary of a number of publicly listed companies including Northern Star Resources Ltd, Alkane Resources Ltd and 
Newland Resources Ltd. 

 
AUDIT AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE  
The audit and remuneration committees were formed on 13 February 2008 . They comprise Mr Craig Readhead and Mr Robert 
Wanless. 
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DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 
The following sets out the number of meetings of the Company's directors held during the year ended 30 June 2009 and the number 
of meetings attended by each director. 
 
There were 9 Director’s meetings and 1 Audit Committee meeting held during the financial year. The number of meetings attended 
by each director during the year (while they were a director or a committee member) is as follows: 
 
  Committee Meetings 

Name Board of Directors Audit Remuneration  

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended 

C L Readhead 9 9 1 1 - - 
I KS Tan** 6 6 - - - - 
R J Wanless 9 9 1 1 - - 
M G Fotios* 4 4 - - - - 
* resigned 17 December 2009 
** appointed 18 September 2008 
 
DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS AND BENEFITS 
 
(a) consulting fees and provision of office facilities of $171,126 paid or due and payable to Delta Resource Management Pty Ltd, a 

company in which Mr. Fotios has a substantial financial interest for services provided in the normal course of business and at 
normal commercial rates. 

(b) Legal fees of $99,155 paid or due and payable to Pullinger Readhead Lucas, a firm in which the director has substantial 
financial interest, for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates. 

(c) Consulting/ Supervision fees of $11,610 paid or due and payable to companies in which Mr Wanless  has a substantial financial 
interest, for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates. 

(d) Administration and secretarial fees of $67,000 paid or payable to a Company in which Mr.Colless and Ms Brown have a 
substantial financial interest for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates. 

 
These fees and benefits exclude benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by 
Directors as director’s fees and shown in financial statements, prepared in accordance with the Corporations Regulations, or the fixed 
salary of a full time employee. 
 
DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 
 
Remuneration Report 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:  
A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
B Details of remuneration 
C Service agreements  
D Share-based compensation. 
E Additional information 
 
The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The information provided within this remuneration report includes remuneration disclosures that are required under Accounting 
Standard AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’. These disclosures have been transferred from the financial report and have been 
audited. 
 
A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited) 
The objective of the Company's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate for 
the results delivered.  The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of value for 
shareholders.   
 
The Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward corporate governance practices: 

 Competitiveness and reasonableness 
 Acceptability to shareholders 
 Transparency 
 Capital management 
 
The Company has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the reward 
strategy for the organisation. 
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION – continued 
 
Remuneration Report - continued 

 
A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited) - continued 
 
Non-executive directors 
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the directors.  Non-
executive directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board.  The Chairman’s fees are determined independently to 
the fees of non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external market.  The Chairman is not present at any discussions 
relating to determination of his own remuneration.   
 
Director’s fees 
Directors' fees are determined within an aggregate directors' fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended for approval by 
shareholders.  The maximum non–executive Director remuneration currently stands at $200,000 in aggregate. 
 
Each non-executive director is entitled to receive fees of $50,000 per annum (plus superannuation) and the Chairman of Directors is 
entitled to receive $75,000 per annum (plus superannuation).  A Director may also be paid fees or other amounts as the Directors 
determine if a Director performs special duties or otherwise performs services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director.  
A Director may also be reimbursed for out of pocket expenses incurred as a result of their directorship or any special duties. 
 
The Company has no performance based remuneration component built into director and executive remuneration packages.  
 
B Details of remuneration (audited) 

 2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Total income received, or due and receivable, by directors of Galaxy Resources 
Limited from the Company, and any related party in connection with the 
management of the Company and any related party. 

 
 

1,151,608 
 

 
 

306,502 

 
The details of remunerations of the directors and key management personnel and specified executives of Galaxy Resources Limited 
are set out in the following tables. 
  
The key management personnel of Galaxy Resources Limited are the following: 

 John Sobolewski (CFO / Company Secretary) 
 Terry Stark (GM Operations) 
 Anand Sheth (GM Marketing & Business Development) 
 Phil Tornatora (Exploration & Geology Manager) 

 
Key Management personnel and other executives of the Company 
 
Executives   
 Short –term benefits Post-employment 

benefits 
Share-based 

payment 
Other  

Name  
Cash Salary and Fees 

$ 

 
Superannuation 

$ 

 
 

$ 

  
Total 

$ 
2009     
M G Fotios 171,126

(a)
 - - - 171,126 

I KS Tan 
J Sobolewski 
T Stark 
A Sheth 
P Tornatora 

183,419 
74,251 

103,976 
77,629 

146,827 

16,508 
6,683 

99,357 
6,987 

13,214 

- 
- 

16,171 
- 
- 

13,526
-
-
-
-

213,453 
80,934 

219,504 
84,616 

160,041 
     
2008     
M G Fotios 181,500

(a)
 - - 181,500 
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION – continued 
 
Remuneration Report – continued 

 
B Details of remuneration (audited) - continued 

 
Non-executive Directors     
 Short –term 

benefits 
Post-employment 

benefits 
Share-based 

payment 
 

Name  
Cash Salary and 

Fees 
$ 

 
Superannuation 

$ 

 
 
$ 

 
Total 

$ 

2009  
C L Readhead 161,655

b)
 - - 161,655 

R J Wanless 51,610
(c)

 2,250 - 53,860 

I KS Tan* 5,889 530 - 6,419 
*appointed 18 September 2008     
2008     
C L Readhead 66,592(b)

 - - 66,592 

R J Wanless 58,410
(c)

 - - 58,410 

I KS Tan* -   - 
*appointed 18 September 2008     
 
2009 
 

(a) Consulting fees and provision of office facilities of $171,126 paid or due and payable to Delta Resource Management Pty 
Ltd, a company in which Mr. Fotios has a substantial financial interest for services provided in the normal course of 
business and at normal commercial rates. 

(b) Legal fees of $99,155 paid or due and payable to Pullinger Readhead Lucas, a firm in which the director has substantial 
financial interest, for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates.. 

(c) Consulting/supervising fees of $11,610 paid or due and payable to companies in which the director has a substantial 
financial interest, for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates. 

 
2008 

(a) Consulting fees and provision of office facilities of $181,500 paid or due and payable to Delta Resource Management Pty 
Ltd, a company in which Mr. Fotios has a substantial financial interest for services provided in the normal course of 
business and at normal commercial rates. 

(b) Legal fees of $16,592 paid or due and payable to Pullinger Readhead Lucas, a firm in which the director has substantial 
financial interest, for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates.. 

(c) Consulting/supervising fees of $28,410 paid or due and payable to companies in which the director has a substantial 
financial interest, for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates. 

 
C  Service Agreements (audited) 
Formal written consultancy agreements exist with companies of which directors have a substantial financial interest as detailed 
below.  No performance related bonuses or benefits are provided. 
 
I Tan (Managing Director) 
Term of Agreement – Mr Tan’s Employment Agreement is for an unlimited tenure. 
  
Agreement 
Under the terms of the agreement, Mr Tan is entitled to a Salary of $290,000 per annum plus 9% superannuation. Mr Tan is also 
provided with a vehicle for which lease payments are made by the company, to the value of $1,786 per month.  

 
Termination 
Termination of the contract can occur by either party giving three months notice in writing. 
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION – continued 
 
Remuneration Report – continued 

 
D Share-based compensation (audited) 
No share based remuneration compensation plan existed during the year. 
The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in the previous, current or future reporting periods are as 
follows: 
Grant date Date vested and 

exercisable 
Expiry date Exercise Price Value per option at grant 

date 
16 December 2008 a 5 years from vesting $0.80 $0.022 
16 December 2008 b 5 years from vesting $1.00 $0.018 
16 December 2008 c 5 years from vesting $1.20 $0.016 
17 April 2009 d 5 years from vesting $0.60 $0.016 
17 April 2009 e 5 years from vesting $0.60 $0.012 
17 April 2009 17 April 2009 17 April 2009 $0.60 $0.022 
     

a. On completion of securing of all necessary debt/equity funding for development of Mt Cattlin. 
b. On achievement of commercial production of lithium/tantalum concentrate at nameplate rate specified in BFS. 
c. On achievement of positive earnings before interest and tax from production of lithium carbonate/concentrate. 
d. On completion of the Company securing all necessary debt and equity funding for the development of the Mt Cattlin 

Project. 
e. On achievement of commercial production of lithium concentrate at the nameplate capacity specified in the final plant 

design at the Company's Mt Cattlin Project for 3 consecutive months. 
 

The unlisted options were granted for no consideration as an incentive bonus. The options carry no dividend or voting rights. When 
exercised, each option is convertible into one ordinary share. The options granted are not subject to any performance conditions. 
12,700,000 options were granted to the directors and key management personnel during the year. 3,525,000 options were exercised 
during the year. 
 
Name Number of options granted Number of options vested 
 2009 2008 2009 2008
Directors of Galaxy Resources Limited 
C L Readhead 1,500,000 - - - 
R J Wanless 1,500,000 - - - 
I KS Tan 4,000,000 - - - 
Other Key Management Personnel 
T Stark 2,000,000 - 750,000 - 
J Sobolewski   2,000,000 - - - 
A Sheth 2,000,000 - - - 
P Tornatora  1,200,000 - - - 
 
Shares issued on exercise of remuneration options 
Details of ordinary shares in the company provided as a result of the exercise of remuneration options to each director of Galaxy 
Resources Limited and other key management personnel of the Company are set out below. 

Name Date of exercise of options 
 

Number of ordinary shares issued on exercise of options 

 2009 2008 
Directors of Galaxy Resources Limited   
C L Readhead 30 September 2008 750,000 - 
R J Wanless 30 September 2008 500,000 250,000 
M G Fotios 30 September 2008 750,000 750,000 
Other Key Management Personnel   
L Colless & K Brown   - 750,000 

 
The amounts paid per ordinary share by the director on the exercise of options at the date of exercise were as follows: 
Exercise date Amount paid per share 
30 September 2008          $0.20 
No amounts are unpaid on any shares issued on exercise of options 
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION – continued 
 
E Additional information – (audited) 
 
 Cash Bonus Options 

 
 
 
 
 

Name 
Paid 
% 

Forfeited 
% 

Year 
granted 

% 
Vested 

% 
Forfeited 

% 

Financial Years 
in which options 

may vest 
$ 

Minimum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest 
$ 

Maximum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest 
$ 

T Stark - - 2009 100 - 2009 - - 
 
 
Share –based compensation: Options 
 
 
Name 

A 
Remuneration 
consisting of 

options 

B 
Value at grant 

date 
$ 

C 
Value at 

exercise date 
$ 

D 
Value at 

lapse date 
$ 

E 
Total of columns B-D 

$ 

C L Readhead - - 225,000 - 225,000 
R J Wanless - - 150,000 - 150,000 
M G Fotios - - 225,000 - 225,000 
 
 
SHARE OPTIONS 
Options to take up ordinary shares in the capital of Galaxy Resources Limited granted and still outstanding are as follows: 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 20 cents on or before 30 September 2008. 
Outstanding at beginning of year  4,225,000 
Outstanding at the date of this report      Nil 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period Nil 
Granted during the financial period Nil 
Exercised during the financial year (2,775,000) 
Expired during the financial year (1,450,000) 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 20 cents on or before 06 February 2009. 
Outstanding at beginning of year  750,000 
Outstanding at the date of this report             Nil 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period Nil 
Granted during the financial period Nil 
Exercised during the financial year (750,000) 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 30 cents on or before 06 February 2010. 
Outstanding at beginning of year  1,500,000 
Outstanding at the date of this report 1,500,000 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 1,500,000 
Granted during the financial period Nil 
Exercised during the financial year Nil 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 30 cents on or before 30 January 2010 
Outstanding at beginning of year  750,000 
Outstanding at the date of this report 750,000 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 750,000 
Granted during the financial period Nil  
Exercised during the financial year Nil 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 40 cents on or before 06 February 2011 
Outstanding at beginning of year  1,500,000 
Outstanding at the date of this report 1,500,000 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 1,500,000 
Granted during the financial period Nil 
Exercised during the financial year Nil 
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SHARE OPTIONS – continued 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 80 cents on or before 24 November 2011 
Outstanding at beginning of year  Nil 
Outstanding at the date of this report             Nil 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 500,000 
Granted during the financial period 500,000 
Exercised during the financial year Nil 
Cancelled since the end of the financial year (500,000) 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at $1.00 on or before 24 November 2011 
Outstanding at beginning of year  Nil 
Outstanding at the date of this report             Nil 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 500,000 
Granted during the financial period 500,000 
Exercised during the financial year Nil 
Cancelled since the end of the financial year (500,000) 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at $1.20 on or before 24 November 2011 
Outstanding at beginning of year  Nil 
Outstanding at the date of this report             Nil 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 500,000 
Granted during the financial period 500,000 
Exercised during the financial year Nil 
Cancelled since the end of the financial year (500,000) 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 45 cents on or before 17 April 2014 
Outstanding at beginning of year  Nil 
Outstanding at the date of this report    750,000 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 750,000 
Granted during the financial period 750,000 
Exercised during the financial year Nil 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 60 cents on or before 5 years from vesting (a) 
Outstanding at beginning of year  Nil 
Outstanding at the date of this report 7,100,000 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 7,100,000 
Granted during the financial period 7,100,000 
Exercised during the financial year Nil 
(a) On completion of the Company securing all necessary debt and equity funding for the development of the Mt Cattlin Project. 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 60 cents on or before 5 years from vesting (b) 
Outstanding at beginning of year  Nil 
Outstanding at the date of this report 5,350,000 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 5,350,000 
Granted during the financial period 5,350,000 
Exercised during the financial year Nil  
(b) On achievement of commercial production of lithium concentrate at the nameplate capacity specified in the final plant design at 
the Company's Mt Cattlin Project for 3 consecutive months. 
 
Unlisted Options - exercisable at 35 cents on or before 31 December 2009 
Outstanding at beginning of year  Nil 
Outstanding at the date of this report                                             3,621,500 
Outstanding at the end of the financial period 4,161,500 
Granted during the financial period 4,220,000 
Exercised during the financial year (58,500) 
Exercised since the end of the financial year (540,000) 
 
None of the existing options are listed on ASX Limited. No person entitled to exercise any option has or had, by virtue of the option, 
a right to participate in any share issue of any other body corporate.  
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SHARE OPTIONS – continued 
 
Shares issued on the exercise of options 
The following ordinary shares of Galaxy Resources Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2009 on the exercise of 
options  

Date options granted Issue price of shares Number of shares issued 
15/03/2005 $0.20 2,775,000 
19/05/2006 
Various 

$0.20 
$0.35 

750,000 
58,500 

 
Since the end of the financial year, the following ordinary shares of Galaxy Resources Limited were issued on exercise of options 

Date options granted Issue price of shares Number of shares issued 
Various $0.35 120,000 

 
 
INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 
During the financial year, Galaxy Resources Limited incurred premiums to insure the directors, secretary and/or officers of the 
Company. 
 
The liability insured is the indemnifaction of the Company against any legal liability to third parties arising out of any Directors or 
Officers duties in their capacity as a Director or Officer other than indemnification not permitted by law. 
 
No liability has arisen under this indemnity as at the date of this report. 
 
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the 
Company or of any related body corporate, against a liability incurred as such by an officer or auditor. 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
The Company strives to comply with the ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations.  This 
is dealt with in more detail in the Supplementary Information section of the Annual Report. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 
The Company is subject to environmental regulation in respect to its mineral tenements relating to exploration activity on those 
tenements.  No breaches of any environmental restrictions were recorded during the financial period. 
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AUDIT INDEPENDENCE AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Auditors' independence Declaration – section 307C 
The following is a copy of a letter received from the Company’s auditors: 
 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
 
To the Directors of Galaxy Resources Limited, 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of Galaxy Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 
(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations  Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 

and 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
Graham Swan 
(Lead auditor) Sydney 
Rothsay Chartered Accountants 11 September 2009 

 
Non-audit services 
The Board of Directors has considered the position and is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the 
general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The Directors are satisfied that the provision 
of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

 all non-audit services have been reviewed by  Board to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the 
auditor 

 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board,  
including acting in a management or a decision-making capacity for the Company or acting as advocate for the Company. 

 
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor:  
 
  2009 

 $ 
 2008 
 $ 

Audit Services   
 Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the 
  Corporations Act 2001 

 
32,000 

 
 25,000 

Non-audit Services   
 Taxation Services -  2,000 
Total 32,000  27,000 
 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
Dated at Perth this 11th day of September 2009. 
On behalf of the Directors 
 

 
 
 
I KS Tan 
Managing Director 
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INCOME STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 

 
 

   
Note 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Revenue from continuing operations    

Interest received  78,195 48,973 

Other income  1,275 - 

Total revenue from continuing operations  79,470 48,973 

    

Expenses from continuing operations    

Administration, secretarial and accounting fees   (177,186) (66,000) 

Audit fees 2 (32,000) (27,000) 

Corporate lodgements and registry fees  (56,768) (36,323) 

Consulting fees  (170,122) (52,090) 

Depreciation 3 (15,724) (1,013) 

Directors fees  (109,514) (80,000) 

Employment costs  (468,202) - 

Insurance  (1,789) (31,221) 

Legal fees  (99,772) (12,064) 

Office running costs  (364,706) (16,272) 

Public relations and promotions   (132,594) (28,529) 

Travel      (134,637) - 

Other expenses from ordinary activities  (86,783) (38,342) 

Interest paid    83 (3,682) 

Exploration expenditure written off 

Exploration - General 

4 (1,520,875) 

(14,702) 

(49,557) 

- 

(Loss) before income tax  (3,305,821) (393,120) 

Income tax revenue 5 592,343 - 

(Loss) for the year  (2,713,478) (393,120) 

(Loss) attributable to members of Galaxy Resources Limited  (2,713,478) (393,120) 

    

(Loss) per share for loss from continuing operations attributable to 
the ordinary equity holders of the Company 

   

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 19 (4.62c) (0.87c) 

Diluted earnings per share are not disclosed as they are not materially 
different to basic earnings per share. 

   

 
The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Note

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS    

 Cash and cash equivalents 6 3,441,613 1,929,722 

 Other receivables 7 373,791 141,680 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  3,815,404 2,071,402 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

 Property, plant & equipment 3 264,824 81,274 

 Other Assets (Exploration and evaluation expenditure) 4 8,618,533 5,260,250 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  8,883,357 5,341,254 

TOTAL ASSETS  12,698,761 7,412,926 

    

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

 Trade and other Payables  8 1,250,907 606,776 

 Provisions  9 22,107 - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,273,014 606,776 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,273,014 606,776 

NET ASSETS  11,425,747 6,806,150 

    

EQUITY    

 Contributed equity 10 15,637,914 8,218,905 

Reserves 11 263,524 349,458 

 Accumulated losses 11 (4,475,691) (1,762,213) 

TOTAL EQUITY  11,425,747 6,806,150 

 
The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
Attributable to members of Galaxy Resources Limited 

 
Consolidated  

 
Notes 

Contributed 
equity 
$’000 

Reserves 
$’000 

Retained 
earnings 

$’000 

Total 
equity 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2007  5,728 392 (1369) 4,751 

Profit/(Loss) for the financial period 11b   (393) (393) 

Total recognised income and expense 
for the year 

   (393) (393) 

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 

10 2,491   2,491 

Share based payments 11a  (43)  (43) 

Balance at 30 June 2008  8,220 349 (1,762) 6,806 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY- continued 
Attributable to members of Galaxy Resources Limited 

 
 

Consolidated  
 

Notes 

Contributed 
equity 
$’000 

Reserves 
$’000 

Retained 
earnings 

$’000 

Total 
equity 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2008  8,220 349 (1,762) 6,806 

Profit/(Loss) for the financial period 11b   (2,713) (2,713) 

Total recognised income and expense 
for the year 

   (2,713) (2,713) 

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 

10 7,418   7,418 

Share based payments 11a  (85)  (85) 

Balance at 30 June 2009  15,638 264 (4,476) 11,426 

 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 
 
 
 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 

 
   

Note 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Receipts from customers & debtors (inclusive of goods and services tax)   592,343 - 

Payments to suppliers and contractors (inclusive of goods and services tax)   (1,735,756) (362,546) 

Net cash (outflow) from operating activities  12 (1,143,413) (362,546) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Interest received   70,033 48,973 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (199,273) (28,224) 

Purchase of exploration tenement   - (23,500) 

Payments for exploration expenditure   (4,879,158) (1,901,552) 

Outflow for security deposits   (77,380) - 

Net cash outflow from investing activities   (5,085,778) (1,904,303) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issue of shares   7,741,082 2,448,611 

Net cash inflow from financing activities   7,741,082 2,448,611 

     

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   1,511,891 181,762 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year   1,929,722 1,747,960 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  6 3,441,613 1,929,722 

     
     

 
The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 

 
 

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

a.  Basis of preparation 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the 
Corporations Act 2001.   
Historical cost convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

b.  Compliance with AIFRSs 
Australian Accounting Standards include equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 

c. Principles of consolidation 

Galaxy Resources Limited had acquired Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited (formerly Telescopium Resources Limited) as a 
wholly owned subsidiary in March 2008. As the subsidiary is still dormant, consolidated financial statements have not been 
prepared. 

d.  Segment Reporting 
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks 
and returns that are different to those of other business segments.  A geographical segment is engaged in providing products 
or services within a particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of 
segments operation in other economic environments. 

e.  Revenue Recognition 
Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis using the effective interest method. 

f.  Taxes 
Income tax 
The income tax expense or revenue for the year is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
national income tax rate, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and 
to unused tax losses.  
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax 
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when 
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  Current tax assets and liabilities are 
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in 
equity are also recognised directly in equity.  

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense item.  Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with receivables or payables in the 
balance sheet. 
Tax Consolidation 
The Company and the subsidiary, Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited were consolidated for tax purposes on 1 July 2008. 

g.  Exploration Expenses 
Expenditure on acquisition, exploration and evaluation relating to an area of interest is carried forward where rights to 
tenure of the area of interest are current and: 
i)  the area has proven commercially recoverable reserves; or 
ii) exploration and evaluation activities are continuing in an area of interest but have not yet reached a stage which permits 
a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. 
At the end of each financial year the Directors assess the carrying value of the exploration expenditure carried forward in 
respect of each area of interest and where the carried forward carrying value is considered to be in excess of (i) above, the 
value of the area of interest is written down or provided against. 
Capitalised exploration expenditure is considered for impairment based upon areas of interest on an annual basis, 
depending on the existence of impairment indicators including: 

 the period for which the Company has the right to explore in the specific area has expired during the period or 
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed; 

 substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is 
neither budgeted or planned; 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
g.  Exploration Expenses - continued 

 exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of 
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the Company has decided to discontinue such activities 
in the specific area; and  

 sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying 
amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or 
by sale. 

Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest that is abandoned are written off in the year in which the decision to 
abandon is made. 

h.  Mineral Tenements 
The Company's activities in the mining industry are subject to regulations and approvals including mining heritage, 
environmental regulation, the implications of the High Court of Australia decision in what is known generally as the 
"Mabo" case and any State or Federal legislation regarding native and mining titles.  Approvals, although granted in most 
cases, are discretionary.  The question of native title has yet to be determined and could affect any mining title area whether 
granted by the State or not. 

i.  Cash and cash equivalents 
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

j.  Trade and Other Receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date 
of recognition. Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectible are written off. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Company 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is 
recognised in the income statement. 

k.  Fair value estimation 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 
The carrying value, less impairment provision, of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature. 

l.  Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so as to 
write off the net cost of each asset during their expected useful life of 3 to 5 years. 

m.  Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial year 
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.  

n.  Employee Benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within twelve 
(12) months of the reporting date are recognised in provisions and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liability is settled. 

o.  Share-based payments  
Where shares or options are issued to employees, including directors, as remuneration for services, the difference between 
fair value of the shares or options issued and the consideration received, if any, from the employee is expensed.  The fair 
value of the shares or options issued is recorded in contributed equity. 

p.  Impairment of assets 
Assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units).  
Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at 
each reporting date. 
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

q.  Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation and it is probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  

r.  Contributed Equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  
Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.  

s.  Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the profit (loss) after income tax attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 
 
t.  Adoption of new and revised standards 
The Company has reviewed all of the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued 
or amended but are not yet effective and have not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ending 30 
June 2009. It has been determined by the Company that there is no material impact of the new and revised Standards and 
Interpretations on its business. 

  
- AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 
8.  This now requires adoption of a 'management approach' to reporting on financial performance.  The information being 
reported will be based on what the key decision makers use internally for evaluating segment performance and deciding 
how to allocate resources to operating segments.  This is not expected to be significantly different from current 
disclosures. 

  
- Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 2007-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 101.  It requires the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and makes 
changes to the statement of changes in equity, but will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.  This is not expected to be significantly different from current disclosures. 

 
- AASB 2008-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Share-based Payments:  Vesting Conditions and 
Cancellations.  These amendments to AASB 2 amend the definition of vesting conditions.  To date the Company has not 
issued any options with non-vesting conditions and as such there will be no significant impact.  

 
 2009 

$
2008 

$ 
2. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION   
   

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided 
by the auditor: 

  

(a)  Audit services     
 Audit and review of financial reports under the Corporations Act 2001  

32,000 
 

25,000 
(b)  Other services   
 Income tax preparation - 2,000 
Total remuneration of auditors 32,000 27,000 

 
3. Property, Plant And Equipment 

(Non – Currrent Assets)
  

 Property, plant & equipment - at cost 282,827 83,554 
 Less: Accumulated depreciation (18,003) (2,279) 
 264,824 81,274 
 Reconciliation of carrying amount 
 Opening balance at 1 July  

 
81,274 

 
54,063 

 Plant & equipment acquired during year 199,274 28,224 
 Disposals - - 
 Depreciation during year (15,724) (1,013) 
 Closing balance at 30 June  264,824 81,274 
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 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
4. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE (Non-Current 

Assets) 
  

Exploration & Evaluation expenditure costs brought forward in respect of 
areas of interest 

  

Balance 1 July 5,260,250 3,384,755 
Expenditure during year comprising   
Acquisitions - 23,500 
Exploration 4,879,158 1,901,552 
Less: expenditure written off (1,520,875) (45,781) 
Less: Provision for exploration - (3,776) 
Balance 30 June 8,618,533 5,260,250 

  
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is recorded at historical cost on an area of interest basis. Recovery of these costs is dependent 
upon the commercial success of future exploration and development or realisation by disposal of the interests therein. 
There may exist, on the Company’s exploration properties, areas subject to National Parks or claim under native title or containing 
sacred sites or sites of significance to Aboriginal people.  As a result, exploration properties or areas within the tenements may be 
subject to exploration and mining restrictions.  

 
5. INCOME TAXES     
    

(a) Income Tax Expense    
Current tax   - - 
Deferred tax  - - 

    
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to 
prima facie tax payable

   

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense  (3,305,821) (393,120) 
Prima facie tax payable at 30%  (991,746) (117,936) 
Add: 
Non-deductible expenses 

  
77,956 

 
- 

Temporary differences not recognised 
Tax loss not brought to account as a deferred tax asset 

 (931,107) 
1,844,897 

(117,936) 
- 

Tax benefits relating to Timing differences and tax losses not 
recognised 

 - - 

    
(c) Tax losses    
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 

recognised 
 11,198,697 1,288,294 

Potential tax benefit at 30%  3,359,609 386,487 
    
(d) Unrecognised temporary differences    
Deferred tax liabilities – Prepayments 
Deferred tax liabilities – Accrued Revenue 
Deferred tax liabilities – Capitalised Exploration 

 (1,757) 
(2,449) 

(2,585,559) 

- 
- 

(1,578,075) 
Deferred tax assets – Accrued expenses 
Deferred tax assets – Payroll Liabilities  
Deferred tax assets – Revenue Employee Entitlements 
Deferred tax assets – Capital Raising Costs 

 5,400 
17,227 
6,632 

214,310 

3,000 
- 
- 
- 

Deferred tax assets – Revenue tax losses  3,359,610 386,487 

Net deferred tax asset/(liability)  1,013,414 (1,188,588) 
The tax losses do not expire under current legisation.  Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because 
it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits. 
 
Taxation of financial arrangements 
The Taxation of Financial Instruments (TOFA) Legislation has been enacted.  The TOFA provisions are in the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997 and are a dedicated set of provisions that deal with the income tax treatment of financial arrangements. The 
effect of these provisions could result in many of the company’s financial arrangements having a changed tax treatment.  The new 
rules apply for all qualifying  financial arrangements entered into from 1 July 2010. However, taxpayers have the option of electing 
for the TOFA provisions to apply to financial arrangements entered into from 1 July 2009.  Taxpayers also have the option to elect 
for existing open financial arrangements to become subject to TOFA from the start date (1 July 2010 or if election made 1 July 
2009).    However, at the date of signature of the financial report the directors have not made any firm decision to elect or not to elect 
for either early adoption of TOFA or to bring in open financial arrangements.  
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Current Asset)  

 2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Cash at Bank and on hand  216,223 405,932 
Cash on Deposit (at call)  3,225,390 1,523,790 
    

  3,441,613 1,929,722 
(Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement 
of Cash Flows equals this balance). 

   

(a) Cash at bank bears interest between nil and 0.01% per annum (2008: 2.55%) 
(b) Cash on deposit bears interest at 2.75% per annum. (2008: 7.00% per annum) 
 
 

  

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Current Assets)   
Other receivables 270.882 141,680 
Prepayments 25,529 - 
Security bonds 77,380 - 
 373,791 141,680 

 
8. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Current Liabilities)   
 Trade, other payables and accruals (a)  1,040,907 606,776 
 Loans from Directors  (b) 210,000 - 
 1,250,907 606,776 
 

(a) Trade payables are unsecured and payable on supplier credit terms, usually payable within 30 days of recognition. The 
Company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. 

(b) On 20 May 2009 Hengolo Pty Ltd (a Company associated with C Readhead) advanced a loan of $280,000 to the Company 
for working capital purposes. The loan was provided on an unsecured interest free basis and, subject to the term that if 
Shareholder approval was obtained, the Company may elect to repay the loan by converting the debt to equity and issue 
securities to Hengolo in order to preserve the Company’s cash position. At balance date, $210,000 of this loan was drawn 
down. 
 
 

9. Provisions  (Current Assets)   
Provision for annual leave 22,107 - 
 22,107 - 

 
  2009  2008 
 Number $ Number $ 
10. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY     
 a) Share Capital     

Ordinary shares - Fully paid  76,125,816 15,637,914 51,412,297 9,084,350 
Movement in ordinary share capital     

 At 1 July  51,412,297 8,218,905 44,662,297 5,727,439 
 Placements  21,130,019 7,067,507 5,000,000 2,250,000 

Reduction by consolidation 2 for 3 - - - - 
Exercise of options 3,583,500 725,475 1,750,000 350,000 
Transfer from share based payments reserve on 
exercise of options 

 
- 

 
76,365 

 
- 

 
42,855 

Cost of issue  - (450,338) - (151,389) 
 At 30 June  76,125,816 15,637,914 51,412,297 8,218,905 
 
2008 
On 24 June 2008, the Company issued 5,000,000 shares at 45 cents each as placement. 
On 20 May 2008, the Company issued 1,750,000 shares at 20 cents on exercise of options. 
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10. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued) 
 
2009 
On 7 October 2008, the Company issued 3,525,000 shares at 20 cents each on exercise of options. 
On 31 December 2008, the Company issued 3,360,000 shares at 35 cents each as placement. 
On 7 January 2009, the Company issued 110,000 shares at 35 cents each as placement. 
On 21 January 2009, the Company issued 14,000 shares at 35 cents each on exercise of options. 
On 16 February 2009, the Company issued 650,000 shares at 35 cents each as placement. 
On 25 February 2009, the Company issued 950,019 shares at 35 cents each under a share purchase plan. 
On 3 April 2009, the Company issued 5,078,333 shares at 30 cents each as placement. 
On 9 April 2009, the Company issued 1,481,667 shares at 30 cents each as placement. 
On 17 April 2009, the Company issued 100,000 shares at 35 cents each as conversion of loan from a director. 
On 27 May 2009, the Company issued 9,400,000 shares at 35 cents each as placement. 
On 29 May 2009, the Company issued 36,000 shares at 35 cents each on exercise of options. 
On 17 June 2009, the Company issued 8,500 shares at 35 cents each on exercise of options. 
 
Terms and conditions of ordinary shares: 
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 
shareholders’ meetings.  In the event of winding up of the company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and 
creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidations. 

 
 

11. RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES 
 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
(a) RESERVES   
Equity-settled payments reserve 263,524 349,458 
   

Movement:   
Balance 1 July 349,458 392,313 
Equity-settled payments (86,204) (42,855) 
Balance 30 June 263,254 349,458 

 
  

(b) ACCUMULATED LOSSES   
Balance 1 July (1,762,213) (1,369,093) 
Loss for the year after related income tax expense (2,713,478) (393,120) 
Balance 30 June (4,475,691) (1,762,213) 

 
 
12.  RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 2009 

$
2008 

$ 
   
 Profit (loss) for the year (2,713,478) (393,120) 
 Add (less) non-cash items in operating loss:   
 Exploration costs written off 1,520,875 49,557 

Depreciation 15,724 1,013 
Interest income (78,195) (48,973) 
Provision for employee entitlements 22,107 - 

 Fees paid by issue of shares in lieu of cash - - 
 Share based payments (9,569) - 
 1,470,942 1,597 
 Movements in operating assets and liabilities:   
 (Increase)/decrease in receivables (146,569) (10,660) 
 Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors 245,692 39,637 
 99,123 28,977 
 Net cash provided (used) in operating activities (1,143,413) (362,546) 

   

 

 

 



GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2009 
 
 

 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 
 

 
13. COMMITMENTS 
Mining Tenement Leases 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to mining tenements, the Company will be required to perform minimum exploration 
work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements specified by the WA State Government and pay tenement lease rents.The 
estimated exploration expenditure commitment for the ensuing year, but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements: 
  
 2009 

$
2008 

$ 
Within one year 514,480 455,680 
Later than one year but less than five years - - 
Later than five years - - 

 514,480 455,680 
 This expenditure will only be incurred should the Company retain its existing level of interest in its various exploration areas and 

provided access to mining tenements is not restricted. These obligations will be fulfilled in the normal course of operations, which 
may include farm-out, joint venture and direct exploration expenditure. 
 
Operating Lease Commitments 
 2009 

$
2008 

$ 
Within one year 244,919 - 
Later than one year but less than five years - - 
Later than five years - - 

 244,919 - 
 

  
14.  KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE  
a) Directors 
The following persons were directors of Galaxy Resources Limited during the financial year: 
 
(i) Chairman – non-executive 
C L Readhead 
 
(ii) Executive director 
M G Fotios – Resigned 17 December 2008 
I KS Tan – Appointed 18 September 2008 
 
(iii) Non- executive directors 
R J Wanless 
 
(b) Other key management personnel 
Mr. Lindsay A Colless (Company Secretary) 
Karen Brown (Joint Company Secretary) 
John Sobolewski (CFO/Company Secretary) 
Terry Stark (GM Operations) 
Anand Sheth (GM Marketing & Business Development) 
Phil Tornatora (Exploration & Geology Manager) 
 
c) Transactions with key management personnel 
(a) consulting fees and fees for provision of office facilities of $171,126 paid or due and payable to Delta Resource Management 

Pty Ltd, a company in which Mr. Fotios has a substantial financial interest for services provided in the normal course of 
business and at normal commercial rates. 

(b) Legal fees of $99,155 paid or due and payable to Pullinger Readhead Lucas, a firm in which the director has substantial 
financial interest, for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates. 

(c) Consulting fees of $11,610 paid or due and payable to companies in which Mr Wanless  has a substantial financial interest for 
services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates 

(d) Administration and secretarial fees of $67,000 paid or payable to a Company in which Mr.Colless and Ms Brown have a 
substantial financial interest for services provided in the normal course of business and at normal commercial rates. 

 
d)  Outstanding balances  
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 
 
i) Current payables – Directors’ fees 
a) C L Readhead $6,250 
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14.   KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE - continued 
 
e) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel 
The interests of the directors and their director related entities in shares and options at the end of the financial year are as follows: 
 
Name of Director Shares Held Directly Shares Held Indirectly Options Held Directly Options Held Indirectly 
C L Readhead 750,000 2,155,556 1,500,000 100,000 
M G Fotios** - 2,213,500 - 3,000,000 
R J Wanless 1,432,740 707,753 750,000 750,000 
I KS Tan* - 1,200 - 4,000,000 

* Appointed 18 September 2008 
**Resigned 17 December 2008 

 
2009 

  Name Balance at the 
start of the 

financial year 

Changes during 
the year 

Received during 
the year on 

exercise of options 

Balance as the end 
of the financial 

year 
(1) Shares     
Directors of Galaxy 
Resources Limited 

    

C L Readhead 2,055,556 100,000 750,000 2,905,556 
M G Fotios** 1,463,500 - 750,000 2,213,500 
R J Wanless           1,840,492 (199,999) 500,000 2,140,493 
I KS Tan* - 1,200 - 1,200 
Key Management 
Personnel 

    

J Sobolewski - - - - 
T Stark 50,000 200,286 - 250,286 
A Sheth - 40,000 - 40,000 
P Tornatora - 90,000 - 90,000 
L A Colless, K E Brown   1,355,555 14,286 - 1,369,841 
Total shares 6,765,103 245,773 2,000,000 9,010,876 
     
(2) Options     
Directors of Galaxy 
Resources Limited 

    

C L Readhead 750,000 1,600,000 (750,000) 1,600,000 
M G Fotios** 3,750,000 - (750,000) 3,000,000 
R J Wanless 500,000 1,500,000 (500,000) 1,500,000 
I KS Tan* - 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 
Key Management 
Personnel 

    

J Sobolewski - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 
T Stark - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 
A Sheth - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 
P Tornatora - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000 
L A Colless, K E Brown  - - - - 
Total options 5,000,000 14,300,000 (2,000,000) 17,300,000 
* Appointed 18 September 2008 
**Resigned 17 December 2008 
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14.   KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE - continued 
 
e) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel – continued 
 
2008 

  Name Balance at the 
start of the 

financial year 

Changes during 
the year 

Received during 
the year on 

exercise of options 

Balance as the end 
of the financial 

year 
(1) Shares     
Directors of Galaxy 
Resources Limited 

    

C L Readhead 2,055,556 - - 2,055,556 
M G Fotios 713,500 - 750,000 1,463,500 
R J Wanless 1,590,492 - 250,000           1,840,492 
I KS Tan* - - - - 
Key Management 
Personnel 

    

L A Colless, K E Brown   605,555 - 750,000 1,355,555 
Total shares 4,965,103 - 1,750,000 6,715,103 
     
(2) Options     
Directors of Galaxy 
Resources Limited 

    

C L Readhead 750,000 - - 750,000 
M G Fotios 4,500,000 (750,000) - 3,750,000 
R J Wanless 750,000 (250,000) - 500,000 
I KS Tan* - - - - 
Key Management 
Personnel 

    

L A Colless, K E Brown  750,000 (750,000) - - 
Total options 6,750,000 (1,750,000) - 5,000,000 
* Appointed 18 September 2008  

 
 
f)  Key management personnel compensation 
 
 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
Short term employee benefits 989,908 306,502 
Post – employment benefits 145,529 - 
Long-term benefits - - 
Termination benefits - - 
Share-based payments 16,171 - 
 1,151,608 306,502 
 
The Company has taken advantage of the relief provided by Corporations Regulation 2M.6.04 and has transferred the detailed 
remuneration disclosures to the Directors’ Report.  The relevant information can be found in sections A-C of the remuneration report 
within the Directors’ Report. 
 
g)  Related party transactions 
Other than, the transactions disclosed above there are no other transactions between related parties that require disclosure. 
 
 
15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 Directors’ transactions with the Company (details of directors' remuneration are set out in Director’s report) 
   2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
 
 Type of transaction 

Related party- 
directors 

 
Terms and conditions

  

 Legal Consulting C L Readhead Normal commercial 99,155 16,592 
Consulting fees M G Fotios Normal commercial 171,126 181,500 
Consulting/Supervision fees R J Wanless Normal commercial 11,610 28,410 
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16. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS 

No contingent liabilities or assets have arisen during the financial period. 
 
 
17. MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
Except for the following, no matters or events have arisen since the end of the financial year, which significantly affected the 
operations of the Company, the results of the Company or the state of affairs of the Company: 

 The 100% owned subsidiary, Telescopium Resources Limited, changed its name to Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited on 6 
July 2009. 

 Galaxy Lithium International Limited, a Hong Kong based subsidiary of Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited was established 
on 23 July 2009.  

 8,800,000 shares were issued on 8 September 2009, to raise $3.36 million (before costs) following approval at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 August 2009.  

 On 25 August 2009, the Company announced that it had secured a debt finance facility of approximately $130 million with 
Creat Group Co. Limited, combined with a placement of 19.9% of the Company’s expanded capital, both of which are 
subject to shareholder approval. The funds will be used to develop the Mt Cattlin Lithium/Tantalum and Jiangsau Lithium 
Carbonate Projects.  

 
 
18. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company operates only in one business and geographical segment being predominantly in the area of mining exploration 
in Western Australia. The Company considers its business operations in mineral exploration to be its primary reporting 
function. 
 
 

19. EARNINGS / LOSS PER SHARE 
 2009 

Cents 
2008 
Cents 

(a)  Basic earnings per share   
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company (4.62) (0.87) 
(b)  Diluted earnings per share   
Diluted earnings per share are not disclosed as they are not materially 
different to basic earnings per share.   

  

(c)  Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
used in calculation of basic earnings per share 

 
58,723,816 

 
32,837,840 

 
 

20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  
 

(a) Market risk 
(i) Foreign exchange risk 

The company does not operate internationally and is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 
 

(ii) Price risk 
The Company does not have investments in equity securities and is not exposed to price risk. 

 
(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

Although the Company has significant interest bearing assets, the Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Company monitors interest rates to obtain the best terms and mix of cash flow. 
The company’s main interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at a variable rate expose the company to cash 
flow interest rate risk. 
 

b) Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with financial institutions.For banks and financial institutions, risk 
control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
 
The Company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to a single counterparty or any group of counterparties having 
similar characteristics. The Company measures credit risk on a fair basis. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, represents the 
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the fair value of any collateral or other security obtained 
The company has no financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired therefore credit qualities have not been disclosed. 
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued 
 
(c) Liquidity risk  
Prudent liquidity management involves the maintenance of sufficient cash, committed credit facilities and access to capital markets.  
It is the policy of the board to ensure that the Company is able to meet its financial obligations and maintain the flexibility to pursue 
attractive investment opportunities through keeping committed credit lines available where possible, ensuring the Company has 
sufficient working capital and preserving the 15% share issue limit available to the Company under the ASX Listing Rules. 
 
Financing arrangements 
The Company has no financing facilities available to it.  
 
Maturities of financial liabilities 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity periods is set out in the 
following tables 

 
 

2009 
Average 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest Rate 

at call 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
Maturity 

Less than 1 
year 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
Maturity 

Greater than 
1 year 

Non-interest 
Bearing 

Total 
 

 % $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0.01 196,435 - - 19,788 216,223 
Deposits - Cash 2.75 3,225,390 - - - 3,225,390 
Receivables - - - - 373,791 373,791 
Accounts Payable - - - - 1,250,907 1,250,907 

 
 

2008 
Average 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest Rate 

at call 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
Maturity 

Less than 1 
year 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
Maturity 

Greater than 
1 year 

Non-interest 
Bearing 

Total 
 

 % $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 2.55 272,699 - - 133,233 405,932 
Deposits - Cash 7.00 1,523,790 - - - 1,523,790 
Receivables - - - - 141,680 141,680 
Accounts Payable - - - - 606,776 606,776 

 
 
21. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

The Galaxy Resources Limited Employee Share Option Plan was approved in April 2009. 
 
The issue to each individual Employee, Key Employee or director is controlled by virtue of the provisions of both the 
Employee share Option Plan and the ASX Listing Rules.  
 
At 30 June 2009, 750,000 45 cent employee options, and 6,950,000 60 cent employee options have been issued. All 
7,700,000 remain unconverted to ordinary shares.  
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21. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - continued 
 

Set out below is a summary of the options granted by the Company: 
Grant Date Expiry date Exercise 

price 
Balance 
at the 

start of 
the year 

 
 

(Number) 

Granted/ 
lapsed, 

exercised 
during the 
financial 
period 

(Number) 

Balance at end 
of the financial 

period 
 
 
 

(Number) 

Vested and 
exercisable at 

end of financial 
period 

 
 

(Number) 
2009 
15 March 2005 30 Sep 2008 $0.20 4,225,000 (4,225,000) - - 
19 May 2006 06 Feb 2009 $0.20 750,000 (750,000) - - 
19 May 2006 06 Feb 2010 $0.30 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1,500,000 
19 May 2006 06 Feb 2011 $0.40 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1,500,000 
5 Feb 2007 30 Jan 2010 $0.30 750,000 - 750,000 750,000 
16 Dec 2008 24 Nov 2011 $0.80 - 500,000 500,000 - 
16 Dec 2008 24 Nov 2011 $1.00 - 500,000 500,000 - 
16 Dec 2008 24 Nov 2011 $1.20 - 500,000 500,000 - 
17 Apr 2009 17 April 2014 $0.45 - 750,000 750,000 750,000 
17 April 2009 5 years from 

vesting 
$0.60 - 7,100,000 7,100,000 - 

17 April 2009 5 years from 
vesting 

$0.60 - 5,350,000 5,350,000 - 

Various 31 Dec 2009 $0.35 - 4,161,500 4,161,500 4,161,500 
Weighted average exercise price $0.26 $0.57 $0.53 $0.35 

 
 

Grant Date Expiry date Exercise 
price 

Balance 
at the 

start of 
the year 

 
 

(Number) 

Granted/ 
lapsed, 

exercised 
during the 
financial 
period 

(Number) 

Balance at end 
of the financial 

period 
 
 
 

(Number) 

Vested and 
exercisable at 

end of financial 
period 

 
 

(Number) 
2008 
15 March 2005 30 Sep 2008 $0.20 5,225,000 (1,000,000) 4,225,000 4,225,000 
19 May 2006 06 Feb 2009 $0.20 1,500,000 (750,000) 750,000 750,000 
19 May 2006 06 Feb 2010 $0.30 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1,500,000 
19 May 2006 06 Feb 2011 $0.40 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1,500,000 
5 Feb 2007 30 Jan 2010 $0.30 750,000 - 750,000 750,000 
Weighted average exercise price $0.25 $0.20 $0.26 $0.26 

 
 
Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share. No options 
were granted during the financial year. 
 
A)  Director option expense 
7,000,000 options were issued to Directors during the financial year. 

 
(B)  Employee option expense 
7,700,000 options were issued to the employees during the financial year. 
 
(C)  Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 
Total expenses arising from share-based payments recognised during the financial period as employee benefits expense was:   
 2008 

$ 
2008 

$ 
Director benefits (share options) - - 
Employee benefits (share options 16,171 - 
 16,171 - 
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Directors' Declaration 
For The Period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009 
 
 
In the opinion of the Directors of Galaxy Resources Limited: 
 
(a) the financial statements and notes set out on the following pages are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 

including: 
 

i. giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2009 and of its performance for 
the financial period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009; and  

 
ii complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional 

reporting requirements ; and  
 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 

payable. 
 
(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out in the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124  Related 

Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 
 
The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of 
the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors: 
 

 
 
 
I KS Tan 
Managing Director 
 
 

PERTH,       11 September, 2009 
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Corporate Governance 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
In mid 2007, the ASX Corporate Governance Council released revised Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations. All ASX listed entities will need to disclose against the recommendations and disclosure obligations 
contained in the revised Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations in the annual report on the first 
financial year commencing after 1 January 2008.  
 
Galaxy Resources Limited (“Company”) has adopted systems of control and accountability as the basis for the 
administration of corporate governance.  The Board is committed to administering the policies and procedures with 
openness and integrity, pursuing the true spirit of corporate governance commensurate with the Company’s needs.  To 
the extent they are applicable, the Company has adopted the second edition of the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (“Recommendations”) as published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council.  
 
Further information about the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the “Corporate Governance 
Policies” available on the Company's website at www.galaxyresources.com.au. 
 
As the Company’s activities develop in size, nature and scope, the size of the Board and the implementation of 
additional corporate governance policies and structures will be given further consideration. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Company, during the year ended 30 June 2009 (the Reporting Period), has continued to follow the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations and has 
implemented and will continue to follow the second edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations.  
 
1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 
The Board’s role is to promote the success of the Company within an appropriate framework which safeguards the 
rights and interests of shareholders and to ensure that the Company is properly managed.  A Board charter and a code of 
conduct have been adopted to assist the Board members in carrying out these functions. The Board Charter is available 
on the Company’s website. 
 
The Chairman reviews the Board informally on an ongoing basis throughout the year with reference to the Board and 
committee charters, to the effective functioning of the Board and its committees and to the Company’s performance as a 
whole.  
 
Performance evaluation of senior executives including the Managing Director is carried out informally throughout the 
year by the Chairman in consultation with non-executive members of the Board.  This evaluation is conducted with 
reference to various measures including, but not restricted to, the Company’s targets, industry comparisons and market 
conditions. 
 
2. Structure the board to add value 
 
During the Reporting Period the Board comprised three directors.  The Board delegates day-to-day responsibility for 
managing the Company to the Managing Director.   
 
The Board does not satisfy the test of independence set out in paragraph 2.1 of the ASX Principals of Good Corporate 
Governance and Best Practice Recommendations.   
 
The Chairman of the Board, Craig Readhead, and non-executive director, Robert Wanless, hold significant shares in the 
Company.  In view of the size of the Company and the nature of its activities, the Board considers that the current board 
is a cost effective and practical method of directing and managing the Company.  Furthermore, notwithstanding their 
shareholdings and fee earning services provided by entities associated with them, the Board has determined both 
gentlemen (Readhead and Wanless) to be independent given these issues are not material in the context of their personal 
incomes and that both gentlemen bring an independent judgement to bear on Board decisions. 
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During the Reporting Period the directors were: 
 Mr Craig Leslie Readhead, non-executive Chairman, was appointed to the Board on 27 April 1999. 
 Mr Robert James Wanless, non-executive Director, was appointed to the Board on 15 January 1996. 
 Mr Ignatius KS Tan, Managing Director, was appointed to the Board on 18 September 2008.  
 Mr Michael George Fotios, Managing Director, was appointed to the Board on 20 April 2006 and resigned on 17 
December 2008. 
 
Profiles of the directors are set out in the Directors’ Report. 
 
The Board collectively and each Director has the right to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense, up to specified limits, to assist them to carry out their responsibilities. 
 
The Company has a separate Audit Committee comprised of the non-executive Directors to consider financial and 
compliance matters.  The committee functions in accordance with the Audit Committee Charter. 
 
As the whole Board only consisted of three (3) members during the Reporting Period, the Company does not have a 
nomination committee as the Board considers that no efficiencies or other benefits would be gained by establishing a 
separate committee for this function.  The Nomination Policy and Procedure are available on the Company’s website. 
 
The Company has a separate Remuneration Committee comprised of the non-executive Directors and which functions 
in accordance with the Remuneration Committee Charter. 
 
During the Reporting Period the Board considered remuneration matters on no occasions. 
 
During the Reporting Period, the Chairman has carried out an informal performance evaluation of the Board and 
individual directors. 
 
3. Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 
 
As stated above, the Board has adopted a code of conduct designed to maintain confidence in the integrity of the 
Company and the responsibilities and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical 
practices.  The Board has also adopted a specific policy on trading in the Company’s securities by directors, officers and 
employees of the Company. The code of conduct and the policy for dealing in the Company’s securities are available on 
the Company’s website. 
 
4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 
The Board has established a structure to verify and safeguard the integrity of the company’s financial reporting and to 
ensure the independence and competence of the Company’s external auditor. 
 
The Board requires the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer to state in writing to the Board that the 
Company’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s financial condition 
and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; that this opinion is founded on a 
sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the 
Board; and that the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently 
and effectively in all material respects. 
 
The Audit Committee considers relevant matters and issues (including responsibility for reviewing the integrity of the 
Company’s financial reporting and overseeing the independence of the external auditors) in accordance with an Audit 
Committee Charter. The Charter is available on the Company’s website. 
 
5. Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
The Board is committed to complying with the continuous disclosure obligations of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 
(Act) and the Listing Rules of ASX Limited.  The Company’s size and structure is such that the Board is able to meet 
on a regular basis for both management and Board meetings to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rules disclosure 
requirements.  The full Board is accountable for ASX compliance. 
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The Board has adopted a disclosure policy and communications strategy. The policy and strategy are available on the 
Company’s website. 
 
6. Respect the rights of shareholders 
 
The Board aims to ensure that the shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting the Company.  The 
Directors are committed to the promotion of investor confidence by ensuring that trade in the Company’s securities 
takes place in an efficient, competitive and informed market and have established arrangements for communication and 
participation of shareholders. 
 
The Company has developed a website comprising corporate information, synopses of the Company’s projects, periodic 
reports and announcements.  Hard copies of publicly released documents are available from the Company on request. 
 
Shareholders are given a reasonable opportunity to participate at general meetings.  The external auditor is invited to 
such meetings to answer questions from shareholders on matters relating to the audit of the Company’s financial 
statements. 
 
The Company’s disclosure policy and communications strategy is available on the Company’s website. 
 
7. Recognise and manage risk 
 
During the Reporting Period the Board as a whole was responsible for ensuring there is a sound system for overseeing 
and managing risk.  As the Board consisted of only three (3) members a separate risk management committee was not 
considered to be a more efficient mechanism than the full Board to focus on specific issues. 
 
The Board has adopted a code of conduct designed to maintain confidence in the integrity of the Company and the 
responsibilities and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices. A 
summary of the Company’s risk management policy is available on the Company’s website. 
 
The Company’s management has reported to the Board as to the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its 
material business risks. 
 
The Board has received assurance from the chief executive offices and the chief executive officer that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 295A of the Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 
 
8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
The Board’s remuneration policy is set out in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report. The policy is 
also available on the Company’s website. 
 
The Board has formed a Remuneration Committee comprised of the non-executive directors of the Company, 
functioning in accordance with the Remuneration Committee Charter.  The Charter is available on the Company’s 
website.  All matters of remuneration will continue to be determined in accordance with Act requirements, especially in 
respect of related party transactions.   
 
During the Reporting Period the Board considered remuneration matters on no occasions.  No director participated in 
any deliberation regarding his own remuneration or related issues. 
 
There are no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive directors. 
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Shareholder Information 
 
 
1. Share Holding at 14 September 2009 

 
(a) Distribution of Shareholders 
  Number of Holders 
 Share holding Fully paid ordinary shares 
  1 - 1,000 527 
  1,001 - 5,000 1,313 
  5,001 - 10,000 554 
  10,001 - 100,000 647 
  100,001 - over 92 

 3,133 

 
(b) Unmarketable Parcels 
 There are 29 shareholders who hold less than a marketable parcel. 
 
(c) Voting Rights 
 Voting rights are one vote per fully paid ordinary share 
 
(d) Names of Substantial Holders  
 
 Shareholder Number of Shares 
 Ademsa Pty Ltd 6,627,120 
 Robert Healy 6,000,000 
  
 

2. Top Twenty Shareholders at 14 September 2009 
 
Shareholder 

Number 
of Shares 

% Issued 
Capital 

Ademsa Pty Ltd 6,627,120 7.68 

Robert Anthony Healy 
National Nominees Limited 

5,693,000 
3,494,750 

6.60 
4.05 

WSF Pty Ltd <Alan D Hill S/F A/C> 2,173,580 2.52 

State One Holdings Pty Ltd 1,544,275 1.79 

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 1,468,958 1.70 

Romadak Pty Ltd 1,464,286 1.70 

Equity Trustees Limited 1,400,000 1.62 

Mineral Administration Services Pty Ltd 1,294,841 1.50 

State One Stockbroking Ltd 1,255,000 1.46 

State One Equities Pty Ltd 1,180,000 1.37 

Robert James Wanless 1,160,931 1.35 

Charles Roland Longworth 1,132,222 1.31 

Hengolo Pty Ltd 1,122,223 1.30 

Robert Dennis Walker 1,073,005 1.24 

Hengolo Pty Ltd <C L Readhead Super Fund A/C> 1,033,333 1.20 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 928,481 1.08 

Best Holdings Pty Ltd 850,000 0.98 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 840,922 0.98 

Hengolo Pty Ltd <C L Readhead Super Fund A/C> 800,000 0.93 

 36,536,927 42.35 
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Shareholder Information 
 
 
3. Distribution of Unlisted Options 
 

Distribution 30 cent 35 cent 40 cent 45 cent 60 cent 
1 - 1,000      
1,001 – 5,000  1    
5,001 – 10,000  4    
10,001 – 100,000  20    
100,001 - over 4 8 2 1 8 
Total Holders 4 33 2 1 8 
Total Units 2,250,000 3,621,500 1,500,000 750,000 12,450,000 

 
 

4. Restricted Securities 
 As at the date of this report, there were no restricted securities. 
 
 
5. On Market Buy-back 
 As at the date of this report, there was no current on market buy-back.  
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Tenement Schedule 
 

 

Project Tenement Notes 

Boxwood Hill   
  E70/1988  

  E70/2493  

  E70/2513-E70/2514  

 E70/2547  

 P70/1559-P70/1561  

Connolly   

  E69/1878  

Ponton   
  E28/1317  

 E28/1830  

Shoemaker   

  E69/1869-1871  

Ravensthorpe    

Aerodrome E74/334  
  E74/398  
    
Bakers Hill  E74/287 2 
  E74/295  

  E74/299  

 E74/415  

  P74/278  

  P74/336  

   

McMahon M74/165  

  M74/184  

  P74/334  

   

Mt Cattlin M74/12  

  M74/155  

 M74/158-M74/159  

  M74/182  

  M74/196-M74/197  

 P74/326-P74/333  
   

Mosaic  M74/136  
   
 Elverdton JV  M74/162-M74/163 1 
  P74/304-P74/306 1 

 E74/406 1 

    

West Kundip M74/133  

  M74/238  

1) Ravensthorpe JV with Pioneer Nickel; Pioneer has earned 75% in all minerals 

2) Cocanarup JV with UCABS, 80% Galaxy, 20% UCABS 
 


